Portland State University PDXScholar

Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

7-25-2022

Examining Demographic and Environmental Factors in Predicting the Perceived Impact of Cancer on Childhood and Adolescent Cancer Survivors

Nazan Cetin Portland State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds

Part of the Oncology Commons, and the Social Work Commons Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Cetin, Nazan, "Examining Demographic and Environmental Factors in Predicting the Perceived Impact of Cancer on Childhood and Adolescent Cancer Survivors" (2022). *Dissertations and Theses*. Paper 6114. https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.7974

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. Please contact us if we can make this document more accessible: pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

Examining Demographic and Environmental Factors in Predicting the Perceived Impact

of Cancer on Childhood and Adolescent Cancer Survivors

by

Nazan Cetin

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Social Work and Social Research

> Dissertation Committee: Junghee Lee, Chair William Donlan Susanne Klawetter Susan Lindemulder Erik Szeto

Portland State University 2022

Abstract

Cancer survivors' perceptions on how cancer has impacted their lives has been identified as a "critical predictor" of psychosocial well-being and quality of life outcomes. Given the dramatic increase in survival rates and the long-term health and psychosocial challenges, as well as survivorship care barriers, this study focuses special attention on childhood and adolescent cancer survivors and is guided by Tedeschi and Calhoun's theory of posttraumatic growth and Hammond's theory of distinctiveness. This study aims to examine the influence of demographic (i.e., age at diagnosis, biological sex, race/ethnicity, type of cancer) and environmental factors (i.e., geographical location and insurance type), as well as the interaction effects (i.e., age at diagnosis *x* biological sex, and geographical location *x* insurance type), in predicting negative impacts of cancer (NIOC) and positive impacts of cancer (PIOC). Study findings provide insights to better understand the differential perceptions of female adolescent cancer survivors, as well as those residing in rural locations with public health insurance.

Study respondents were cancer survivors attending Oregon Health and Science University's Doernbecher Cancer Survivorship Clinic (DCSC) in Portland, Oregon, who were diagnosed with and treated for cancer between the ages of 0-19 years old and were in remission from cancer for a minimum of two years at the time of the study. During their first visit to DSCS, the Impact of Cancer for Childhood Cancer Survivors (IOC-CS) questionnaire was completed by participants 13 years and older (otherwise, after they turned 13 years old) to measure NIOC and PIOC scores. Demographic and environmental variables were derived from the Survivorship Repository and a retrospective chart review through OHSU's electronic medical record (EPIC). Of the 470 respondents, years since diagnosis ranged from 6-50 years, including 79% who were childhood cancer survivors (i.e., diagnosed between the ages of 0-14 years old, *vs.* 21% were adolescent cancer survivors diagnosed between 15-19 years old); 51% identified as male (*vs.* 49% were female); and 73% identified as non-Hispanic White (*vs.* 21% were non-White). Participants' current age ranged between 14-55 years old, with 67% residing in urban geographical locations (*vs.* 33% in rural) and 65% with private insurance (*vs.* 35% with public). Type of cancer featured three main groups, hematological cancers (60%), CNS/Brain tumors (11%), and solid tumors/soft tissue tumors/other cancers (29%).

To examine how well a new set of study variables predicted the outcome variables over and above the previously entered set of variables, hierarchical ordinary least squares (OLS) regression was utilized. Controlling for years since diagnosis, three sets of data analysis, including only demographic variables were entered in the first model, environmental variables were then added to the second model, and the interaction effects added in the final model. Each model was developed and tested separately for each dependent variable (NIOC *vs.* PIOC). Prior to OLS regression analysis, factor analysis was conducted to examine the factor structure of NIOC and PIOC.

Interestingly, PIOC scores were consistently higher than NIOC scores for all groups. Preliminary data analysis using *t*-tests found that NIOC was higher among female, adolescents, and participants with public health insurance compared to their counterparts; PIOC was higher among females, and carriers of private insurance; but no significant differences were found between non-White *vs*. non-Hispanic White, rural *vs*.

urban, and types of cancer. All three OLS models were significant in predicting outcome variables. The final model including the interaction effects significantly increased model description above the second model for both NIOC (additional 1.6% of the variance, F(10, 433) = 3.88, p < 0.001) and PIOC (additional 1.8% of the variance, F(10, 433) = 3.31, p < 0.001). Being a female adolescent cancer survivor was identified as a risk factor for increased NIOC and decreased PIOC. Having public health insurance significantly increased NIOC, while the main effect disappeared after adding the interaction term (i.e., rural x public insurance). In addition, being a childhood and adolescent cancer survivor living in a rural location with public insurance was a significant risk factor for increased NIOC. Furthermore, having public insurance as a main effect was significant in decreasing PIOC.

Study respondents (i.e., childhood and adolescent cancer survivors) consistently endorsed higher PIOC than NIOC. This finding is not surprising and may be indicative of being in remission from cancer for a minimum of two years, and as years since diagnosis elapses, these individuals may experience an improvement in their physical health, personal growth, as well as greater health literacy. Furthermore, their social networks may have improved alongside family support. These individuals' stories may motivate survivors newly transitioning into post-treatment survivorship in navigating and overcoming the challenges involved in adjusting to life after cancer.

Consistent with previous studies, while it appeared that having public health insurance was a risk factor for increased NIOC, the contributing factors were complicated – study participants residing in *rural* areas with *public* health insurance had significantly

increased NIOC. The accessibility and quality of health care services may explain these differential experiences.

Study findings also highlight that the experience of being a female survivor diagnosed with cancer during adolescence may feature distinct experiences. These survivors reported not only reduced PIOC, but increased NIOC. Mixed-method study designs may help in deepening an understanding of their lived experiences to better inform the development and implementation of gender sensitive and developmentally specific cancer survivorship support programs.

Interestingly and contrary to prior research, being diagnosed with a CNS/brain tumor cancer type did not yield significant differences in NIOC as previously reported. Study findings provide insights on the need for survivorship cancer research to move towards frameworks of social determinants of health in further examining the accumulated effects of medical and non-medical indicators including socioeconomic factors and exposure to early childhood trauma that may influence NIOC and PIOC.

Dedication

To all the participants in this study

&

To my family

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincerest thanks and gratitude to Dr. Susan Lindemulder, Jessica Busse and the entire team of healthcare professionals and patients at Oregon Health Science Universities Doernbecher cancer survivorship program for the opportunity to conduct this research study.

I would also like to express my deepest thanks, respect, and appreciation to my committee chair, Dr. Junghee Lee for her support, encouragement, and mentorship to my development as a social work scholar and researcher.

Thank you to my committee members, who all exemplify excellence within their respective professions: Dr. Susanne Klawetter for your continual mentorship and education, Dr. Ted Donlan for your wisdom and consultation, Dr. Lindemulder for your medical and population expertise, Sarah Porter, for your clinical and practice expertise, and Dr. Erik Szeto for your medical and community health insights and wisdom.

I would also like to thank Dr. Pauline Jivanjee for being a constant source of support throughout this journey.

Lastly, I owe my full thanks and gratitude to my family.

Table of Contents

Abstract i
Dedicationv
Acknowledgements vi
List of Tables xi
Preface xii
Chapter 1: Introduction1
Purpose of Study1
Relevance to Social Work4
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Theoretical Framework6
Against a Singular Message of "Distinctness"
Posttraumatic Growth: A New Perspective on Psychotraumatology11
Summary of Theoretical Background13
Terms and Concepts in Oncology Research14
Cancer Survivorship14
Defining Long-Term Childhood Cancer Survivor14
Support Services for Cancer Survivors in the United States: An Overview15
Impact of Cancer17

Childhood Cancer Survivors18
Adolescent Cancer Survivors
Biological Sex21
Race and Ethnicity21
Type of Cancer23
Type of Health Insurance24
Geographical Location24
Years Since Primary Diagnosis25
Summary of Literature Review25
Chapter 3: Methods
Research Questions and Hypothesis
Study Setting
Study Data
Study Participants
Study Variables
Outcome Variables
Study Predictors
Control Variable
Data Analysis Plan

viii

Chapter 4: Results40
Preliminary Findings40
Missing Data40
Factor Analysis40
Mean Difference Test44
Participant Characteristics
Hierarchical OLS Analysis Findings48
Predicting NIOC
Predicting PIOC
Chapter 5: Discussion
Positive Impacts of Cancer
Living in Rural Locations with Public Health Insurance
Being Female and Diagnosed with Cancer During Adolescence55
CNS/Brain Tumor Survivors56
Study Limitations and Future Research58
Implications for Social Work Practice and Social Work Policy62
Conclusion64
References
Appendix: Impact of Cancer-IOC-CS, 45 items

ix

Negative Impact of Cancer	102
Positive Impact of Cancer	103

List of Tables

Table 1 Negative Impact of Cancer Rotated Factor Loadings	.42
Table 2 Positive Impact of Cancer Rotated Factor Loadings	.43
Table 3 Correlation and Internal Consistency of NIOC subscales	.44
Table 4 Correlation and Internal Consistency of PIOC subscales	.44
Table 5 Statistical Mean Difference Test	.45
Table 6 Participant Characteristics' Description (n = 470, 100%)	.47
Table 7 Predicting NIOC using Hierarchical OLS	49
Table 8 Predicting PIOC using Hierarchical OLS	50

Preface

Positionality Statement

Among the many lessons engaging in the research process has taught me is that any research I conduct cannot be understood unless I contextualize my positionality in it. As a woman, refugee, mother, sister of a cancer survivor, and social work scholar, who I am within the scope of this research study matters. In acknowledging my positionality, I have the responsibility to be in constant critical reflection of the biases and assumptions that I bring into the research process (Muhammad et al., 2015). As I analyze, interpret, and present the findings from this study, I also remain mindful of the privilege and power I bring into the research process in recognizing that the quantified experiences I describe in this study do not fully capture the ways in which young people who have experienced cancer understand themselves and their places in the world.

My interest in pursuing this project stems from both my professional experiences as a social work clinician and my personal experiences as a sibling of an adolescent cancer survivor. As a clinician working with children and adolescents experiencing a chronic physical condition, I found that assessments and intervention models utilized in community mental health settings often either generalized or inadvertently failed to capture the experiences of young people living with chronic physical conditions such as cancer and very often misrepresented or pathologized challenges facing young cancer survivors. These gaps in clinical approaches lacked a comprehensive understanding of issues relevant to the needs of young cancer survivors which often inhibited survivors from receiving the support services they needed. Additionally, as the sister of a young cancer survivor, I know the emotional and psychological distress that cancer generates on both survivors and their families. Challenges posed by cancer are often further exacerbated for immigrant and refugee families who are in the process of learning how to navigate mainstream medical systems and for the young cancer survivor trying to establish their identity within school systems and peer groups.

In 2019, I had the privilege of observing a clinical session at Oregon Health and Science University (OHSU) Doernbecher Cancer Survivorship Program. It was during this observational session that I came to learn about the program and the different survivorship care support services provided. It was a joyous moment to see how much cancer survivorship support had evolved within the last 15 years since my sibling had been diagnosed but also a somber one in knowing that there are so many cancer survivors who do not have access to such quality services due to health system, socioeconomic, and racial/ethnic barriers and disparities. It is encouraging to see the potential of what is possible for cancer survivorship care, but at the same time a reminder of how much work still needs to be done.

While my family experiences may not reflect the myriad of experiences that exist amongst other families who have experienced a loved one's cancer diagnosis, my personal and professional experiences have served as a guide in illuminating gaps that exist within the literature. As such, this study reflects my commitment to expanding an understanding on the impact of cancer on young survivors.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Purpose of Study

Advancements in medicine over the last 30 years have dramatically increased survival rates for children and adolescents diagnosed with cancer (Aziz, 2007). There are an estimated 483,000 survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer (diagnosed between the ages of birth-19 years old) in the United States (U.S.) (National Cancer Institute, 2019). While improvements in medical treatment continue to extend life expectancy, research demonstrates that over 60% of adolescent and young adult survivors of childhood and adolescent cancer remain at risk for long-term health and psychosocial late effects of treatment (National Cancer Institute, 2019) and more than 95% will develop a chronic health, emotional, and/or psychological condition by the time they are 45 years old (Bhakta et al., 2017; Hudson et al., 2013).

In response to the multitude of health and psychosocial impacts of cancer, over the last decade initiatives and standards have been developed recommending a critical need to improve long-term survivorship care and enhance quality of life outcomes for childhood and adolescent cancer survivors (Children's Oncology Group, 2018; Commission on Cancer, 2010; Hewitt et al., 2006). These standards have illuminated the importance of viewing survivorship as part of a continuum of medical care that incorporates not only biomedical follow-up visits, but also assessments and interventions attuned to the psychosocial impacts of cancer (Children's Oncology Group, 2018; Commission on Cancer, 2010). However, despite greater attention on enhancing quality of life, research demonstrates that long-term childhood and adolescent survivors do not receive "adequate or appropriate long-term follow-up care" (Ford et al., 2020; Klosky et al., 2008; Oeffinger et al., 2004; Tonorezos et al., 2018, 2022; Zebrack & Landier, 2011, p.1605), and report a significant number of unmet health information and psychosocial support needs (Klosky et al., 2008; Oeffinger et al., 2004a; Oeffinger & Hudson, 2004; Tonorezos et al., 2018; Zebrack & Landier, 2011).

The presence of late treatment effects coupled with survivorship care barriers have drawn attention to the importance of delivering comprehensive long-term survivorship care that is age-specific and unique to the experiences of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors (Jones et al., 2011; Tonorezos et al., 2022; Zebrack & Zeltzer, 2003). Researchers have recognized the importance of distinguishing between survivors who are diagnosed during childhood (0-14 years old) and those diagnosed during adolescence and young adulthood (15-39 years old) (Lang et al., 2018; Perez et al., 2020; Smith et al., 2013). Research suggests that age group distinctions highlight the different biomedical and psychosocial needs (Lang et al., 2018b; Overholser et al., 2017; Smith et al., 2013) and demonstrate the importance of understanding the impact of cancer in relation to developmental age at diagnosis (Bellizzi et al., 2012; Tonorezos et al., 2022).

Research demonstrates that cancer survivors' perceptions on how cancer has impacted their lives is a "critical predictor" of psychosocial distress and quality of life outcomes (Zebrack et al.,2012 p. 1601;Taylor, 2000;Taylor et al., 1984). However, little is known about the extent to which perceptions of the impact of cancer interact with being diagnosed at a particular developmental stage. In addition, research suggests the importance of understanding how experiences of the impact of cancer vary depending on demographic factors such as biological sex, race & ethnicity, and type of cancer (Bellizzi et al., 2012; Nilsson et al., 2014, Bava et al., 2017; Kirchhoff et al., 2014; Lang et al., 2018; Moore et al., 2020; Zebrack & Zeltzer, 2003) and environmental factors such as type of insurance and geographical location (Miedema et al., 2013; Roth et al., 2022). Given the dramatic increase in survival rates and the complexities that childhood and adolescent cancer survivors face, there is a need to better understand how demographic factors and environmental factors interact with how childhood and adolescent survivors perceive the impact of cancer on their lives.

This study seeks to expand the existing knowledge base to better understand how childhood and adolescent cancer survivors experience the impact of cancer. This purpose will be met through achieving the following specific aims: 1) To identify the extent to which demographic (i.e., biological sex, age at diagnosis, race/ethnicity, type of cancer) and environmental factors (i.e., geographical location and health insurance type) *separately* predict the negative impact of cancer (NIOC) and the positive impact of cancer (PIOC); and 2) To identify the extent to which the interaction effects (age at diagnosis × biological sex, geographical location × insurance type) predict NIOC and PIOC. This study uses secondary data collected from childhood and adolescent cancer survivors at the Oregon Health and Science University's Doernbecher Cancer Survivorship Clinic (DCSC) from the years 2009-2019.

Implications from this study will be useful in contributing to the knowledge base for childhood and adolescent cancer survivors. Findings from this study may also contribute to strengthening, adapting, and/or developing support services. Furthermore, findings may provide guiding principles to healthcare professionals in childhood cancer survivorship clinics on what areas of supportive care needs, services, and resources may need further development.

Relevance to Social Work

This study is relevant to social work in several ways. Social workers play a critical role within the field of pediatric oncology by supporting children, adolescents, and young adults as they manage the diagnosis, treatment, and survivorship of cancer (Jones et al., 2018; Zebrack et al., 2018). Working as members of multidisciplinary care teams, oncology social workers are *primary providers* of psychosocial support services (Zebrack et al., 2022) and administer comprehensive assessments, care-coordination, case and behavioral health management, and interventions throughout the continuum of cancer care (Hedlund, 2015; Zebrack et al., 2018). Additionally, research suggests that oncology social workers play a vital role within multidisciplinary teams in educating team members on the application of psychosocial screenings and evidence-based interventions (Hedlund, 2015; Jones et al., 2018; Zebrack et al., 2022). Findings from this study may be useful in enhancing knowledge on how to better support survivors as they not only transition from the cancer treatment to the post-treatment phase, but also in supporting survivors manage the potential long-term health and psychosocial late effects of treatment.

Additionally, findings from this study help to support healthy development for all young people, which is one of the 12 Grand Challenges for Social Work and is

considered a priority in improving the health and psychosocial wellbeing of all youth (Jenson, 2019). In 2018, the U.S. Congress passed the Childhood Cancer Survivorship: Treatment, Access, and Research (STAR) Act. The Act was developed in response to the need for advancements in childhood survivorship research to improve treatment, access, and enhance support services and resources for survivors and their families (STAR Act, 2018). Findings from this study may provide useful information on the impact of cancer on long-term survivorship and support needs of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors, so that policymakers can advocate for the development or enhancement of programs and resources for survivors and their families.

Lastly, findings from this study may contribute to the growing knowledge base established by both the Association of Pediatric Oncology Social Workers (APOSW) and the Association of Oncology Social Workers (AOSW). Both organizations are guided by social work values and a commitment to social justice and seek to advance psychosocial cancer research, policy, culturally competent cancer care, and identify health disparities in cancer care experienced by underserved communities (AOSW, 2015; Oktay & Zebrack, 2018)

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter presents the theoretical framework for this study, and a review of the literature that is relevant to the current study on the perceived impact of cancer on childhood and adolescent cancer survivors. First, several terms and concepts relevant to oncology research are presented. Second, an overview of the status of survivorship care in the U.S. are followed. Third, a discussion on the impact of cancer on survivors diagnosed during childhood (0-14 years old) is stated. Fourth, a discussion on the impact of cancer for survivors diagnosed during adolescence (15-19 years old) is presented. Lastly, a summary of the review and need for further research is discussed.

Theoretical Framework

Responding to the complex medical and psychosocial impacts of cancer survivorship requires a unique theoretical paradigm to understand how the perceived impact of cancer "intersects" with the psychosocial development of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors (D'Agostino et al., 2011; Zebrack et al., 2010 p.217). This study draws from approaches of Hammond's (2016) theory of a singular message of "Distinctness," and Tedeschi and Calhoun's (2004) posttraumatic growth theory.

Theoretical Approaches on Normative Identity Development

Researchers studying psychosocial development have long come to represent childhood and adolescence as critical periods in development. These critical periods are characterized by shifts in cognitive and emotional growth in which identity formation and explorations of self are key processes and important markers for healthy psychosocial development (Ferro & Boyle; Erikson, 1968). In his seminal work on the psychosocial theory of human development through a life span, Erikson (1968) conceptualizes the formation of development as not only a period in which an adolescent's identity is socially influenced, but also a period in which the development of autonomy is considered central to developmental success. Erickson's theory is constructed on eight stages of psychosocial development and centers on answering the question, "how does a person compose a life centered in the self?" (Sorell & Montgomery, 2001, p.101).

Elements of Erickson's theory carry utility in understanding factors that shape and influence psychosocial development in children and adolescents. However, his reliance on a set of defined stages of psychosocial development are not useful in providing a framework for understanding the developmental trajectories of children and adolescents who have experienced cancer.

Gaps in Erickson's Psychosocial Stages of Development

Due to the biomedical aspects of their cancer diagnosis and treatment, many childhood and adolescent survivors of cancer experience a delay in growth, puberty, and/or have altered changes to their appearance (Bhakta et al., 2017). Given the biological, psychological, and social changes posed by the potential impacts of cancer, childhood and adolescent survivors do not fit into a defined trajectory of development in the way that is endorsed by Erickson's life span approach. Moreover, childhood and adolescent survivors often go through periods in which identity exploration can be disrupted due to the impacts of prolonged treatment, as well as periods in which they experience recurrent concern over their identity and mortality (Patterson et al., 2015). While Erickson's emphasis on autonomy as one of the core elements of forming a strong and consistent sense of identity has provided theoretical grounding for many scholars in describing psychosocial development (Sorell & Montgomery, 2001), his reliance on the achievement of autonomy does not carry utility for many childhood and adolescent survivors. For example, many survivors often rely upon the impact of cancer as perceived by their family members and caregivers (Zebrack, 2000).

Furthermore, many young survivors depend on healthcare systems and healthcare professionals to provide support and education on the management of the late effects of cancer treatment (Zebrack, 2000). Due to the many complex biomedical and psychosocial challenges the experience of cancer presents, it is important that developmental frameworks further examine how psychosocial development shapes or influences a survivor's perceptions of the impact of cancer.

Against a Singular Message of "Distinctness"

In against a singular message of "distinctness," Hammond (2016) suggests that dominant human developmental approaches portray the experiences of young cancer survivors as universal when, in fact, identifying and addressing the needs of survivors is dependent on multiple "intersecting sociodemographic factors" (p.45). Moreover, he argues that mainstream models of human development are often elicited in oncology research through the use of quantitative methods that center the impacts of cancer based on what is assumed to be normative developmental tasks such as autonomy, romantic intimacy, social integration, and career pursuits (Hammond, 2016). For example, research often characterizes childhood and adolescent survivors as one identical group of survivors with the same support needs and experiences and ignores the increasingly growing population of survivors who are culturally and socioeconomically diverse (Odo & Potter, 2009). Moreover, the ways in which young cancer survivors are represented in research and within healthcare systems are limiting to understanding the developmental trajectories of young survivors within a diverse and multicultural world (Hammond, 2016). Hammond argues that these 'singular' portrayals disregard the "multiplicity of medical, social, and psychological" issues that young survivors experience (Hammond, 2016, p.47). Consequently, to explore psychosocial development in young cancer survivors, Hammond proposes four interrelated sociodemographic contexts (p. 45):

1. The precarious labor conditions affecting adolescent and young adult survivors' financial and work lives.

2. Changing timetables and priorities for developmental tasks.

3. Sexual and gender plurality.

4. The expanding cultural diversity of adolescent and young adult survivors.

The first category in the theory of "distinctness" is an understanding of the financial and employment burdens that childhood and adolescent cancer survivors may face. While financial barriers to cancer care are acknowledged within research and healthcare, the challenges that young cancer survivors face in accessing employment, paid leave, and financial challenges due to unemployment are relatively ignored in research (Hammond, 2016; Stone et al., 2017). For example, many young survivors may experience disruptions to employment and education due to chronic health and

neurocognitive conditions (Parsons et al., 2012). Recognizing these factors within interventions are imperative considering that poverty, employment related stress, and financial instability are risk factors for lower health and psychological quality of life (Wilkinson et al., 1998).

Second, by recognizing the changing timelines and priorities of childhood and adolescent survivors, Hammond (2016) argues that viewing development under a taskoriented framework means that there are a set of milestones for when young people should graduate high school and college, establish a career, marry, and have children. However, deviations from these normative assumptions are often assessed as developmental delays within oncology research and healthcare settings and are not viewed as acceptable developmental trajectories (Odo & Potter, 2009; Pritchard et al., 2011; Tonorezos & Oeffinger, 2011).

Third, given sexual and gender plurality and the reality that cancer treatment may impact fertility (Gardino et al., 2011), child and adolescent survivors should receive ageappropriate and comprehensive information regarding fertility as they mature (Crawshaw & Sloper, 2010; Filippi et al., 2021; Hammond, 2016). For example, fertility preservation decisions are often made by caregivers and parents of childhood patients and as survivors become young adults healthcare providers need to revisit potential issues related to infertility and provide age-appropriate resources and support services (Quinn et al., 2011).

Fourth, with the expanding cultural diversity of the young cancer population, it is important to consider that experiencing intersecting marginalization including racism, sex and gender discrimination, healthcare access and discrimination, and poverty can compound financial, health, and psychosocial difficulties (Aziz, 2002; Gotay et al., 2002; Reeves et al., 2021). Understanding the role that both demographic factors and environmental factors may play in how a young cancer survivor perceives their experience of cancer is important in further challenging the lack of heterogeneity in mainstream developmental frameworks. The theory of "distinctness" introduces an effective framework for providing necessary contextual nuance to childhood and adolescent development. This theory shifts away from discourse presenting young cancer survivors as one singular group and moves towards addressing the diverse challenges they may face within individual, social, and societal contexts. Moreover, this theory provides great utility in offering researchers and healthcare professionals a framework that enhances culturally, socioeconomically, and developmentally responsive cancer and survivorship care that is adaptable to young survivors and the developmental trajectories they experience (Hammond, 2016).

While Hammond's theory of "distinctness" provides a developmental framework to better understand the *diverse* impact of cancer on psychosocial development, posttraumatic growth theory offers principles to explore how young cancer survivors may derive negative and positive perceptions of their experiences with cancer.

Posttraumatic Growth: A New Perspective on Psychotraumatology

Theoretical approaches focused on describing the subjective experiences of a life threatening or chronic health condition have historically stemmed from the experiences of adults. Bury (1982) was one of the first scholars to theorize the experience of an illness as causing a "biographical disruption" (p.1). Bury's characterization of the experience of illness as a disruption to identity contributed to the way that other scholars began to form conceptualizations about subjective experiences of illness.

In her extensive research with adults experiencing chronic illness and disability, Charmaz (1995), like Bury, suggests that the experience of an illness, "assaults the body and threatens the integrity of the self" (Charmaz, 1995, p.3). Furthermore, she states that illness "undermines the unity between body and self, and forces identity changes" (Charmaz, 1995, p.3). Many empirical studies have used Bury and Charmaz's arguments regarding illness as a *disruption* and *threat* to explain the experiences of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors. However, while research demonstrates that many childhood and adolescent survivors report symptoms of psychological distress related to depression, posttraumatic stress, and anxiety (Hobbie et al., 2000; Kwak et al., 2013; Meeske et al., 2001; Stuber et al., 2010), research also indicates that many adolescent and childhood survivors describe perceived benefits of their cancer experience and report resilience, personal growth, better-quality relationships, and greater health competency (Barakat et al., 2006; Bellizzi et al., 2012; Parry & Chesler, 2005; Phipps et al., 2007).

The capacity for individuals to perceive positive outcomes after experiencing a traumatic event is grounded in Tedeschi and Calhoun's (2004) conceptualizations of "post-traumatic growth." Post-traumatic growth is defined as "positive psychological change experienced as a result of the struggle with highly challenging life circumstances" (p.5). Based on post-traumatic growth theory, positive perceptions may arise from trauma associated with cancer experiences that are distressing enough to alter life values and

worldviews (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Individuals experiencing a trauma are more likely to engage in "existential questions" related to their own mortality and purpose in life (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004, p.2). Tedeschi and Calhoun suggest that reevaluating or reconstructing one's concept of self, the world, and the future after a traumatic event supports posttraumatic growth (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). In a study examining the relationship between post-traumatic stress and post-traumatic growth among adolescent and young adult cancer patients, Zebrack and colleagues (2015) endorse that posttraumatic growth is a cognitive process that is psychologically adaptive for cancer patients and helps them to facilitate coping. Post-traumatic growth provides a useful framework in understanding how cancer survivors may perceive positive aspects of having experienced cancer.

Summary of Theoretical Background

This study builds on theories of human development and post-traumatic growth to better understand how childhood and adolescent cancer survivors experience the impact of cancer. As discussed in this review, both Hammond's theory of "distinctness" and Tedeschi and Calhoun's theory of posttraumatic growth not only provide utility in gaining an understanding on factors that shape and influence development in childhood and adolescent survivors but also offer a useful framework in understanding how cancer survivors may come to identify and understand positive aspects related to having experienced cancer. Furthermore, both theoretical frameworks provide researchers with a guide in widening the scope of data collection to capture data such as race/ethnicity, gender, cancer type, geographical location, insurance type. Expanding the scope of data collection can be useful in further explicating demographic and environmental factor differences that may influence experiences of negative and positive impacts of cancer.

Terms and Concepts in Oncology Research

Cancer Survivorship

The term "cancer survivorship" symbolizes "the state or process of living following a diagnosis of cancer, regardless of how long a person lives" (Zebrack, 2003, p.198). Derived from his personal experiences of living with cancer, physician Fitzhugh Mullan compared cancer survivorship to "seasons of the year" (Mullan, 1985, p. 5). He identified three "seasons of survival": "acute" (diagnosis), "extended" (completion of treatment), and "permanent" (cancer free). A recognition of survivorship as an "ever-changing process" is considered essential in understanding not only the physical impacts of cancer but also the psychosocial impacts (Aziz, 2007; Zebrack et al., 2013, p.198). The participants in this study are in Mullan's third phase of survivorship "permanent" (cancer free).

Defining Long-Term Childhood Cancer Survivor

According to the Children's Oncology Group [COG], a long-term cancer survivor is defined as any child, adolescent, or young adult, who has completed cancer treatment and has been in remission from cancer for a minimum of 2 years (COG, 2018). Childhood cancer refers to cancers diagnosed in children (Bhakta et al., 2017) and "childhood" comprehensively include children and adolescents diagnosed between the ages of 0-19 years old (Molinaro & Fletcher, 2018; Nolan et al., 2014). However, in consideration of different human developmental status, "childhood" also distinguishes children between 0 to 14 years of age (Dockerty et al., 2003) and adolescents between the ages of 15 to 19 years old (American Society of Clinical Oncology, 2017).

It is important to note that in 2005, the National Cancer Institute (NCI) formed a progress review group recommending the need to distinguish research and cancer care focused on adolescents and young adults (AYAs) diagnosed with cancer between the ages of 15-39 years old (Smith et al., 2016). This distinction was made for two primary reasons. First, research demonstrates that AYAs are "medically distinct" then those diagnosed before the age of 15 years old and those diagnosed after the age of 39 years old (Bleyer, 2007). This distinction is due to differences in the types of cancers diagnosed within this age group (Bleyer, 2007). Additionally, AYAs have not seen survival rates as high as for those diagnosed between the ages of 0-14 years old and adults diagnosed after the age of 39 years old (Bleyer, 2007). Second, AYAs are considered "psychosocially distinct" due to a diagnosis of cancer during the critical developmental periods of adolescence and young adulthood (Bellizzi et al., 2012; Overholser et al., 2017).

Due to the term AYA encompassing several human developmental life stages within the 15-39 age range (Zebrack et al., 2013) the term childhood cancer survivors in this study refers to two distinct groups: children diagnosed with cancer between the ages 0-14 years old and adolescents diagnosed with cancer between the ages of 15-19 years old.

Support Services for Cancer Survivors in the United States: An Overview

In the U.S. survivorship care is a term used to define approaches addressing the medical and psychosocial support needs of cancer survivors (Agostino et al., 2011). The

requirements for long-term survivorship care services for cancer survivors were first specified in 2005 by the Institute of Medicine (IOM, 2005). These specifications recommend that programs offer screenings, resources, and education to help prevent or minimize the risks of cancer treatment and enhance quality of life (Salz et al., 2012). Subsequently, in 2010, the first cancer survivor-centered accreditation standards were introduced by the Commission on Cancer (CoC). These standards require that all CoC accredited cancer centers provide cancer survivors a Survivorship Care Plan (SCP), psychosocial assessments, and patient navigators (Commission on Cancer, 2010). The SCP is defined as a comprehensive document that provides survivors with a detailed summary of their cancer treatment, a schedule for screening late-effects, and recommendations on nutrition and health behaviors (Salz et al., 2012).

The Children's Oncology Group [COG] recommends that childhood and adolescent cancer survivors attend follow-up care in facilities where multidisciplinary healthcare professionals provide follow-up care specific to developmental needs and health promotion strategies, and monitor and manage late effects (Lowe et al., 2016). The primary goal of survivorship care is to offer childhood and adolescent survivors access to age-appropriate support services that encompasses the full spectrum of care (diagnosis, treatment, long-term survivorship) (D'Agostino et al., 2011).

Despite the importance of monitoring for long-term health and psychosocial impacts, research demonstrates that childhood and adolescent survivors face "shortcomings and disparities" in receiving long-term follow-up care (Klosky et al., 2008; Oeffinger et al., 2004; Tonorezos et al., 2018; Zebrack et al., 2022, p.1087; Zebrack & Landier, 2011) and report a significant number of unmet needs (Klosky et al., 2008; Oeffinger & Hudson, 2004; Tonorezos et al., 2022; Zebrack & Landier, 2011). Moreover, a study of over 20,000 adult survivors of childhood cancer representing over 27 cancer institutions in the U.S., found that as childhood cancer survivors age they are less likely to receive cancer-related follow-up care (Oeffinger et al., 2004a). To respond to the increasing need, in 2019, the CoC launched a project to "analyze, review and improve" the standards of cancer survivorship care (Association of Community Centers[ACCC], 2019, para.6). The CoC is mandating health systems to approach survivorship as part of the continuum of care with the primary goal of ensuring that standards of cancer care result in "improvement of patient care" (ACCC, 2019, para.6). This new mandate highlights the urgent need for research to examine a more comprehensive understanding of the impact of cancer.

Impact of Cancer

Existing research examining quality of life in childhood and adolescent cancer survivors have historically focused on the "late effects" of cancer. According to the NCI, late-effects are defined as "health problems that occur months or years" after cancer treatment has ended (National Cancer Institute, 2019, para.1). While studies examining late effects reveal the multitude of chronic health and psychosocial challenges that cancer survivors face, these studies primarily define late effects of cancer solely as a negative experience. However, a growing but small body of research also suggests that understanding the impact of cancer through the perception of cancer survivors themselves is a vital component in enhancing quality of life (Zebrack & Landier, 2011). For example, studies examining chronic or life-threatening health conditions from the perspectives of patients demonstrate that how patients perceive their health condition is a more reliable predictor of distress then examining objective factors such as the presence of late effects (Cordova & Andrykowski, 2003; Taïeb et al., 2004; Zebrack et al., 2012). Furthermore, evidence suggests that examining perceptions of the impact of cancer offers opportunities to not only focus on the negative impacts of cancer but also perceptions of the positive impacts of experiencing cancer including personal growth and resilience (Zebrack et al., 2012). In this study, "impact of cancer" is defined in terms of how cancer negatively and/or positively impacts survivors across physical and psychosocial quality of life domains (Zebrack & Landier, 2011) and specific to a survivor's developmental age at diagnosis, biological sex, race/ethnicity, cancer type, geographical location, and insurance type.

Childhood Cancer Survivors

Research examining the impact of cancer on childhood survivors demonstrates that children diagnosed at 0-14 years of age have different physiological and psychosocial factors than those diagnosed during adolescence (Pizzo & Poplack, 2016). For example, while cancer treatments differ according to type of cancer, research suggests that due to how rapidly the bodies of children develop, almost all the types of cancers diagnosed during this stage have treatment modalities that are "long, painful, and dangerous" (Patterson et al., 2004, p.390).

In examining psychosocial factors of the impact of cancer, research demonstrates that caregivers play an important role in providing social, emotional, and financial support to children diagnosed during this stage (Gutiérrez-Colina et al., 2017). In addition, the interaction between children and their parents may influence how positively or negatively a child perceives cancer and treatment (Harper et al., 2019).

Research examining the long-term negative impacts of cancer for survivors diagnosed during childhood is limited to objective measures examining the negative impacts of cancer treatment. Depending on the type of cancer, treatment modality, and duration of treatment, survivors are at risk for developing chronic health conditions such as secondary cancers, cardiovascular disease, organ damage (e.g., Bhakta et al., 2017; Hobbie et al., 2000; Langeveld et al., 2002; Mertens & Marchak, 2015; Ostroff & Steinglass, 1996; Suh et al., 2020), diabetes and obesity (e.g., Bhatia & Meadows, 2006), physical impairments and disabilities (e.g., Evans & Radford, 1995; Oeffinger & Hudson, 2004), learning disabilities and neuropsychological effects (e.g., Challinor et al., 2000; Mitby et al., 2003; Raymond-Speden et al., 2000), and posttraumatic stress disorder and isolation (Stuber et al., 2010). Also, the impact of cancer on physical health contributes to low self-esteem and a negative outlook on life in survivors diagnosed during this stage (e.g., Zebrack & Chesler, 2001).

Given the young developmental stage at which survivors are diagnosed, family functioning is considered a critical element in contributing to positive impacts and potentially mitigating the negative psychosocial impacts of the illness and treatment (Alderfer et al., 2009; Cetin, 2022). A study on the positive impacts of cancer demonstrates that 60% of childhood survivors in the study report positive experiences related to having empathy for others, 54% report an ability to cope with tragedy, 52% report a positive sense of identity and spiritual well-being (Zebrack et al., 2012). In addition, childhood survivors report positive experiences related to a strong sense of psychological and emotional maturity, personal growth and appreciation for life, and resilience in enduring challenging situations (Parry & Chesler, 2005).

Adolescent Cancer Survivors

Cancer survivors diagnosed during adolescence between the ages 15-19 years old are distinct from childhood survivors because they are confronted with a cancer diagnosis at a time in which they are trying to navigate the critical developmental transitions such as developing their own concept of self, forming more intimate social relationships, learning to navigate health care systems, and pursuing educational goals (e.g., Bellizzi et al., 2012; Overholser et al., 2017; Pennant et al., 2019).

Similar to survivors diagnosed during childhood, research on the negative impacts of cancer is limited to examinations of objective factors. Depending on the cancer type, duration of treatment, and treatment modality, adolescent cancer survivors are at risk for secondary cancers, cardiovascular disease, organ damage, physical disabilities, learning disabilities, and neuropsychological effects (e.g., Albritton & Bleyer, 2003; Bhakta et al., 2017; Clinton-McHarg et al., 2010; Suh et al., 2020). In addition, evidence suggests that survivors diagnosed with cancer during adolescence also report significant psychosocial challenges related to emotional and psychological distress (e.g., Bellizzi et al., 2012; Overholser et al., 2017; Pendley et al., 1997).

Research on the positive impacts of cancer demonstrate that some survivors report positive impacts such as resilience and personal growth. For example, a study by Barakat and colleagues (2006) found that 32% of the adolescent survivors in the study report positive impacts of cancer such as relationships with peers and family members, and future goals and planning. Similarly, a study examining psychosocial adjustment in adolescent survivors found that survivors were more likely than their siblings to report positive perceptions of the impact of cancer related to their marital status and educational attainment (Zebrack et al., 2012). Adolescent survivors also report the important role that parental support plays in lowering psychological distress (McDonnell et al., 2020; Wilford et al., 2017).

Biological Sex

Research demonstrates that females diagnosed with cancer between the ages of 15-39 report significantly higher negative impacts of cancer related to uncertainty and worry about their social lives, and lower cognitive functioning compared to their counterparts (Benedict et al., 2020a; Husson & Zebrack, 2017). In addition, a study examining mood disorders in adult childhood cancer survivors found that female survivors diagnosed in early childhood report more negative impacts related to psychological and emotional distress than male survivors (Zeltzer et al., 1997). However, there are also conflicting research studies that found no differences in experiences related to positive and negative impacts of cancer based on biological sex (Cox et al., 2016; Bellizzi et al., 2012; Zebrack & Landier, 2011).

Race and Ethnicity

Research examining the impact of cancer as experienced by race/ethnicity demonstrate that race may play a critical role in quality of life outcomes. Several studies

21

document that non-White adult cancer survivors report lower health and psychosocial quality of life outcomes compared to White survivors (Aziz, 2002; Marshall et al., 2011; Spencer et al., 1999). Furthermore, a study by Phillips & Jones (2014) found that Latinx adult survivors report greater psychological distress, financial challenges, and lower rates of life contentment than White survivors.

In examining the impact of cancer amongst childhood and adolescent survivors from diverse racial and ethnic backgrounds, Casillas and colleagues (2006) found that Latinx cancer survivors report lower health quality of life with significant challenges related to physical pain and infertility compared to White survivors. In addition, several studies have found that survivors from culturally diverse backgrounds report greater survivorship support needs (Jones et al., 2011) and higher rates of isolation after cancer treatment (Foster et al., 2011; Wakefield et al., 2013).

In contrast, research also demonstrates that having a strong racial identity may be a contributing factor in influencing positive perceptions of the impact of cancer (Phillips & Jones, 2014). Phipps and colleagues (2007) found that Black and African American survivors report greater positive impacts of cancer compared to White survivors which indicates more personal growth and lower levels of post-traumatic stress. In addition, greater family support amongst Latino adolescent survivors is linked to more positive attitudes regarding the impact of cancer (Phillips & Jones, 2014). Furthermore, Latinx adolescent survivors who speak their native language at home report significantly higher post-traumatic growth, which is linked to more positive psychosocial functioning and lower levels of post-traumatic stress (Arpawong et al., 2013). However, studies also demonstrate that survivors from diverse racial/ethnic backgrounds also report greater negative experiences of cancer compared to White survivors (Husson & Zebrack, 2017).

Type of Cancer

Research on the influence of cancer type on the impact of cancer demonstrate that physical and psychosocial challenges may be influenced by the type of cancer at diagnosis (Weatherer et al., 2021). For example, several studies have found that childhood brain tumor survivors have the poorest health related quality of life among childhood cancer survivors (Hocking et al., 2011; Oeffinger et al., 2006; Zeltzer et al., 2009). In addition, brain tumor survivors demonstrate lower rates of neurological functioning compared with survivors of other cancers (Hobbie et al., 2016), and endorse higher rates psychological distress compared to their siblings (Zebrack et al., 2004; Zeltzer et al., 2009). Brain tumor survivors are also less likely to live independently, be employed, or have a college degree compared with siblings (Zebrack et al., 2004), as well as survivors of other types of cancers (Ness et al., 2010).

While few differences have been observed between survivors diagnosed with other types of cancers, a study from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study (Zeltzer et al., 2009) examining a cohort of 6192 survivors diagnosed between the ages of 11-21, found that survivors of leukemia experience increased rates of depression and anxiety compared to their siblings. However, studies have also found that childhood leukemia survivors are also significantly more likely to report positive impacts of cancer compared to survivors of other cancer types (Zebrack et al., 2012).

Type of Health Insurance

Research examining factors related to health insurance and the impact of cancer indicate that the implementation of the Affordable Care Act (ACA) in 2010 has increased survival outcomes for adolescent and young adult cancer patients (Roth et al., 2022). Furthermore, the enactment of the ACA and the expansion of dependent coverage has also lowered rates of uninsured cancer survivors between the ages of 19-25 thus improving access to healthcare and early cancer detection screenings (Roth et al., 2022).

However, despite increases in access to health insurance, research suggests that disparities continue to exist between privately insured and publicly insured childhood and adolescent cancer patients (Penumarthy et al., 2020; Weatherer et al., 2021). For example, recent studies indicate that childhood and adolescent survivors with public insurance have poorer survival outcomes compared to patients with private insurance independent of cancer prognosis, biological sex, race/ethnicity, and age (Kline et al., 2018; Penumarthy et al., 2020). In addition, cancer survivors with public insurance often face challenges related to lack of transportation to attend medical appointments (Li et al., 2015), lower health literacy (Hydeman et al., 2019) and financial barriers related to covering deductibles and prescription costs (Weigel et al., 2020).

Geographical Location

Research demonstrates that geographical location has considerable impact on access to health care and health outcomes (Miedema et al., 2013). In particular, rural cancer patients are considered a high-risk population who face poorer access to oncology services and limited access to survivorship care programs compared to patients living in urban geographical locations (Levit et al., 2020; Miedema et al., 2013). Furthermore, studies indicate that compared with urban survivors, rural cancer survivors have poorer long-term health, increased psychological distress, and financial and insurance barriers (Miedema et al., 2013; Olson et al., 1993; Yabroff et al., 2020). However, despite disparities related to health care access and health outcomes, Warner and colleagues (2014) found that rural young adult cancer survivors report higher levels of satisfaction with their care compared to urban cancer survivors and are willing to travel several hours to receive specialty cancer care services.

Years Since Primary Diagnosis

Research demonstrates that the probability of reporting a negative impact of cancer decreases as survivors move further in years from their initial cancer diagnosis (Husson & Zebrack, 2017; Phipps et al., 2007) because physical health conditions may improve (Langeveld et al., 2004), as well as the emotional and psychological distress associated with the cancer experience may decrease (Husson & Zebrack, 2017).

Summary of Literature Review

In the U.S., many empirical studies have been conducted to improve survivorship care by identifying the long-term health and psychosocial impacts of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors over the past decade. As a result, approaching survivorship not only as a part of the continuum of care but also recognizing the importance of prioritizing a survivor's current age and their age at diagnosis in the delivery and/or

development of survivorship care programs are vital parts of improving survivorship care outcomes (Lang et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2013).

As the population of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors continues to grow, studies demonstrate the importance of investigating how survivors experience not only the negative impacts of cancer but also how they perceive the positive impacts that cancer may present for personal growth in their lives. However, many questions remain regarding the extent to which the experiences of the impact of cancer interacts with being diagnosed at a particular developmental stage, biological sex, race/ethnicity, type of cancer, geographical location, and type of insurance (Kirchhoff et al., 2014; Lang et al., 2018b; Levit et al., 2020; Penumarthy et al., 2020; Roth et al., 2022; Zebrack & Zeltzer, 2003).

As indicated in this literature review, understanding the long-term impacts of cancer that consider developmental stage at diagnosis, biological sex, race/ethnicity, cancer type, geographical location, and type of insurance, while controlling for the influences of years since primary diagnosis, is critical to develop age relevant and responsive care to cancer survivors' differential experiences. However, research exploring the impact of cancer continues to be sparse and features several limitations. For example, most of the studies in this review are limited to utilizing standardized measures and questionnaires focused on the ways in which the late effects of cancer negatively impact physical and psychosocial health (e.g., Challinor et al., 2000; Suh et al., 2020). Moreover, these measurements do not address the life domains that are of specific

concern to childhood and adolescent cancer survivors such as relationships with family, friends, life challenges, body and health, and health literacy.

In addition, only a few studies capture perceived positive aspects of cancer including personal growth based on the perspectives of long-term adolescent and childhood cancer survivors (e.g., Husson & Zebrack, 2017; Zebrack et al., 2012). Furthermore, few existing studies assess the extent to which long-term survivors perceive cancer as having an impact on specific and developmentally relevant life issues (Bellizzi et al., 2012; Husson & Zebrack, 2017). Also, studies investigating survivors diagnosed during adolescence (aged 15-19) are often grouped together with survivors diagnosed between the ages of 15-39 years old (e.g., Mertens & Marchak, 2015; Overholser et al., 2017). The variability of life stages is quite significant, and therefore difficult to assess how cancer impacts adolescent survivors aged 15-19 years old (Zebrack et al., 2013). Although research on the impact of cancer continues to be sparse, some existing studies suggest unique associations with positive and negative impacts of cancer in relation to demographic (i.e., age at diagnosis, biological sex, race and ethnicity, cancer type) and environmental factors (i.e., geographical location, insurance type) (e.g., Bellizzi et al., 2012; Cox et al., 2017; Phillips & Jones, 2014).

While the studies included in this review demonstrate the importance of examining the perceived negative and positive impacts of cancer, it remains unclear the extent to which demographic and environmental factors predict the impact of cancer. To the researcher's best knowledge, this is the first comprehensive study to examine demographic and environmental factors, as well as the interaction effects in predicting the negative and positive impact of cancer.

Chapter 3: Methods

This quantitative study is exploratory in nature to investigate the experiences of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors, and explanatory for the purpose of examining the influences of demographic and environmental factors in predicting outcome variables: negative impact of cancer and positive impact of cancer, separately. Hierarchical OLS was utilized to test how well a new set of study variables predicted the outcome variables over and above the previously entered set of variables. A sequential blockwise entry method was used with demographic factors (age at diagnosis, biological sex, race/ethnicity, cancer type), followed by environmental factors (geographical location, insurance type), and then interaction effects (age at diagnosis \times biological sex, and geographical location \times insurance type) were entered. Since previous studies reveal that the negative impact of cancer may diminish depending on years since diagnosis (e.g., Husson & Zebrack, 2017; Langeveld et al., 2004), years since diagnosis was included in this data analysis as a control variable. The positive and negative impact of cancer was measured by the Impact of Cancer – Childhood Survivors (IOC-CS; Zebrack & Landier, 2011) instrument, and used in this study as outcome variables (i.e., NIOC and PIOC respectively). The total mean score of NIOC and PIOC serve as the two outcomes variables tested separately.

Research Questions and Hypothesis

Research questions and hypothesis are organized by outcome variables: NIOC and PIOC, separately, and the order for OLS blockwise entry.

Predicting NIOC

1. First block: To what extent do demographic factors (age at diagnosis, biological sex, race/ethnicity, cancer type) predict NIOC?

Research hypothesis: Diagnosed during adolescence (*vs.* childhood), being female (*vs.* male), diagnosed with CNS/brain tumors (*vs.* hematological and solid tumors/soft tumors/other cancers, separately) will express higher NIOC than their counterparts.

 Second block: To what extent do environmental factors (insurance type and geographical location) predict NIOC? Does the addition of environmental factors account for significantly more variance than the first block (i.e., demographic factors alone) in predicting NIOC?

Research hypothesis 2-1: Having public health insurance (*vs.* private), residing in rural geographical location (*vs.* urban location) will express higher NIOC.

Research hypothesis 2-2: Adding environmental factors increases the model

description significantly in comparison to the capacity predicted by the first block.

3. Third block: To what extent do interaction effects (biological sex \times age group at diagnosis, geographical location \times insurance type) predict NIOC? Does the

addition of interaction effects account for significantly more variance than the second block in predicting NIOC?

Research hypothesis 3-1: Individuals who are biologically female and diagnosed during their adolescence will express higher NIOC than all other participants.

Research hypothesis 3-2: Adding environmental factors will increase the model description significantly in comparison to the capacity predicted by the second block.

Predicting PIOC

1. First block: To what extent do demographic factors (age at diagnosis, biological sex, race/ethnicity, cancer type) predict PIOC?

Research hypothesis: Diagnosed during adolescence (*vs.* childhood), being female (*vs.* male), diagnosed with CNS/brain tumors (*vs.* hematological and solid tumors/soft tumors/other cancers, separately) will express higher PIOC than their counter parts.

 Second block: To what extent do environmental factors (insurance type and geographical location) predict PIOC? Does the addition of environmental factors account for significantly more variance than the first block (i.e., demographic factors alone) in predicting PIOC?

Research hypothesis 2-1: Having public health insurance (*vs.* private), residing in rural geographical location (*vs.* urban location) will express higher PIOC.

Research hypothesis 2-2: Adding environmental factors increases the model description significantly in comparison to the capacity predicted by the first block.

3. Third block: To what extent do interaction effects (biological sex × age group at diagnosis, geographical location × insurance type) predict PIOC? Does the addition of interaction effects account for significantly more variance than the second block in predicting PIOC?

Research hypothesis 3-1: Individuals who are biologically female and who were diagnosed during their adolescence will express higher PIOC than all other participants.

Research hypothesis 3-2: Adding environmental factors increases the model description significantly in comparison to the capacity predicted by the second block.

Study Setting

Oregon Health and Science University's Doernbecher Cancer Survivorship Clinic (DCSC) in Portland, Oregon is the setting for this study. Since its inception in 2009, DCSC has provided comprehensive medical care and psychosocial support for cancer survivors of all ages diagnosed with cancer during childhood, adolescence, or young adulthood. The clinic serves an estimated 270 survivors every year from all 36 counties in Oregon, as well as survivors in Southwestern Washington State, Alaska, Montana, Idaho, and Northern California. To attend the DCSC, a cancer survivor must have completed cancer treatment (chemotherapy, surgery, and/or radiotherapy) and be in remission from cancer for a minimum of two years. Survivors may be referred to the clinic through their oncologist or primary care physician, however referral is not required if the survivor is eligible to attend.

When eligible survivors contact DCSC, an initial assessment is conducted by the program coordinator to collect medical and psychosocial information. During their first visit at DCSC, the Medical History Questionnaire (MHQ) is used to collect not only medical history and health behaviors, but also demographic information. The Impact of Cancer for Childhood Cancer Survivors (IOC-CS) questionnaire is also completed by the survivor during their appointment. A team of multidisciplinary healthcare providers (pediatric oncologist, nurse practitioner, social worker, and clinical psychologist) offer survivors information to better understand treatment exposures and how they may impact future health. In addition, survivors are provided with support services including health literacy, social and emotional support, educational support regarding managing the late effects of cancer treatment, and support on how to navigate healthcare systems and transitions. DCSC also provides an Early Survivorship program for survivors who are transitioning from cancer treatment and have not yet been in remission from cancer for a minimum of two years. The Early Survivorship program includes an oncology social worker, a pediatric neuropsychologist, and a hospital schoolteacher who assist in providing support services for both survivors and their families. Services include support with adjusting to life after cancer treatment and psychosocial and financial concerns.

Study Data

This study utilizes secondary data from the Oregon Health and Science University's Doernbecher Survivorship Repository and the patient electronic medical record (EPIC). The data repository features clinical information that has been collected since the clinic's inception in 2009 and continues to be collected and utilized by the multidisciplinary team at DCSC to inform patient care. While the DCSC Repository continues adding new participant data, this study includes data from only those who were first diagnosed during childhood and adolescence (i.e., 0 to 19 years old). The repository features data from the Impact of Cancer for Childhood Cancer Survivors (IOC-CS) questionnaire (a survivor must be 13 years old to complete the questionnaire), study identification numbers, date of birth, date of first diagnosis, date of first visit to the survivorship clinic, date the IOC-CS questionnaire was completed, years since diagnosis, and current age. While data is collected at the DCSC during several time points, this study only uses data from the first IOC-CS questionnaire the survivor completed, or the first time the questionnaire was completed after the survivor turned 13 years old. The researcher also reviewed the medical chart of eligible study participants to collect additional demographic data (cancer type, health insurance type, race/ethnicity, and geographical location). The two sources of data were merged into one Excel file spreadsheet for data analysis purposes in this study. Patient confidentiality was carefully assessed and maintained throughout this study. Study data were stored in the OHSU cloud storage OneDrive. The Institutional review board (IRB) of Oregon Health and

Science University and Portland State University reviewed and approved all procedures of this study.

Study Participants

Since the clinic's inception in 2009 until the World Health Organization (WHO) declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) on January 30th, 2020, a total of 510 patients who were first-time diagnosed with cancer during childhood and adolescence (i.e., between the ages of 0-19 years old), attended survivorship care appointments at the DSCS. Patients who had their first clinic visit during the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 2020-2022 were excluded from this study, since their experiences could be significantly different from those in the pre-pandemic period. Of 510 participants, 13 individuals were excluded because they did not meet the eligibility criteria, including: 1) 11 did not have a cancer diagnosis, and one cancer survivor was not in remission from cancer at the time of the study, and 2) one had a duplicate patient record. The final number of study participants were 470.

Study Variables

Positive and negative impact of cancer are used as outcome variables and introduced below. Study predictors are organized by demographic and environmental factors. Years since primary diagnosis is a control variable in this study.

Outcome Variables

Negative and positive impact of cancer were measured using the Impact of Cancer for Childhood Cancer Survivors (IOC-CS) questionnaire (Zebrack et al., 2006). Based on qualitative interviews with 64 childhood cancer survivors, Zebrack (2009) identified the negative and positive impact of cancer survivorship, and highlighted issues that were unique to survivors. The IOC-CS consists of 45 items in which participants endorsed their experiences and perceptions of the impact of cancer on a 5-point Likert scale (1 = No impact at all, to 5 = Great impact). The *negative impact of cancer* (NIOC) includes 20 items organized by three subscales: life challenges, thinking and memory problems, and financial problems; the *positive impact of cancer* (PIOC) includes 25 items grouped with five subscales: health literacy, socializing, body and health, talking with parents, and personal growth. The IOC-CS was developed in the U.S. and is a reliable and validated scale. Psychometric properties of the eight subscales have been discussed in previous research studies and demonstrate robust internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha between .70 to .86) and internal and external validity (Zebrack et al., 2010; Zebrack & Landier, 2011). Additionally, reproducibility and cross-cultural reliability and validity have been observed in three languages (Italian, Dutch, and Norwegian) (Dahl et al., 2012; Muzzatti et al., 2013; Oerlemans et al., 2013). The mean of NIOC and PIOC scores were calculated separately for data analysis purpose. The range of the mean scores includes 1 to 5, and higher scores indicated a greater impact of cancer.

Study Predictors

Age at Primary Diagnosis. To measure the impact of cancer based on developmental age at diagnosis, age at primary diagnosis was categorized and coded into two groups: 0 = childhood (0-14 years old), and 1 = adolescent (15-19 years old).

Biological Sex. The participant's biological sex was collected by the researcher through a retrospective patient chart review. Based on the information listed in patient

records under 'legal sex,' biological sex was coded as a binary variable, with 0 = male, and 1 = female.

Race/Ethnicity. There were five categories race/ethnicity identified in patient records for race/ethnicity: *Non-Hispanic White/Caucasian, Hispanic, Black/African American, Asian/Pacific Islander, and American Indian/Native American*. After careful review of the race/ethnicity variable and consulting with DCSC, there was no indication presented in patient records whether race/ethnicity categories were self-identified by the participant or entered through a third party. Due to the limited number of participants belonging to each specified race/ethnicity subgroup, for purposes of data analysis, race/ethnicity was limited to two categories and coded as a dichotomous variable: 0 = Non-Hispanic White, *vs.* 1 = Non-White.

Cancer Type. There were a considerable number of cancer types indicated in patient medical records. With consultation from DCSC's led pediatric hematologist/oncologist, each cancer type was carefully reviewed and coded into three distinct cancer type categories: 0 = hematological (includes leukemias, lymphomas), 1 = CNS/brain tumors (includes all malignant tumors within the brain and spinal cord), and 2 = solid tumor/soft tissue tumors/others (includes rhabdomyosarcoma, germ cell tumors, Wilms tumor, osteosarcoma, other tumors not specified).

Geographical Location. This study utilized participant geographical location zip codes in accordance with the U.S. Census Bureau's statistical measurement guidelines for rural and urban designations (Ratcliffe et al., 2016). The Rural Health Information Hub (RHIhub) was utilized to enter zip code data to search and retrieve geographical location designations. RHI is a federally funded program providing data and analysis on population health in rural communities (Vohra et al., 2022). Each zip code coincided with a county that was classified by population size and level of urbanization and rurality to generate two categories for geographical location: 0 = urban, 1 = rural.

Insurance Type. Insurance type information was gathered through patient records and coincided with the date/year participants completed the first IMPACT questionnaire. The primary types of health insurance included: 1) an employer purchased health plan, 2) a family purchased health plan, 3) a Medicare health plan, and 4) a Medicaid or other state program health plan. After consultation and being reviewed by the DCSC's Social Worker and the OHSU office of Financial and Medicaid Services, insurance type was categorized into two groups and coded as a dichotomous variable, with 0 =private, and 1 =public.

Control Variable

Since previous research indicates that the likelihood of reporting negative impacts of cancer decreases as survivors move further away from the first time they were diagnosed with cancer (e.g., Husson & Zebrack, 2017; Langeveld et al., 2004), *years since primary diagnosis* (how many years have elapsed since the first initial cancer diagnosis) was included as a control variable for this study.

Data Analysis Plan

All statistical analysis for this study were conducted using the IBM Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 28.0 (SPSS). The preliminary data analysis was conducted to assess missing data. Little's MCAR test was used to find the most

appropriate method to address missing data, and all variables were assessed to check if the missingness is systematic or "ignorable" (Kline, 2011, p.55). Descriptive statistics covering frequencies and central tendencies, and correlation analysis were used to summarize characteristics of the main variables and the associations between variables of interest. A series of t-test and one-way ANOVA was implemented to test mean differences between independent and dependent groups. Factor analysis with orthogonal rotation (i.e., Varimax rotation) was followed to assess the construct and factor structure of NIOC and PIOC, separately. Finally, a set of hierarchical ordinary least squares (OLS) regression using the blockwise method was applied to examine how well a new set of study variables predicted the outcome variable over and above the previously entered set of variables. Three models of OLS regression analysis were conducted for NIOC and PIOC, separately, as dependent variables. The first model examined demographic variables including: biological sex, age at diagnosis, cancer type, and race/ethnicity. The second model examined environmental variables including: geographical location, insurance type, and the final model included the interaction effects (i.e., biological sex \times age at diagnosis; insurance type \times geographical location).

Chapter 4: Results

In this chapter, results are presented with preliminary findings including an assessment of missing data, factor analysis findings, and mean difference tests. Hierarchical OLS analysis findings are followed.

Preliminary Findings

Missing Data

Missingness in the dataset ranged from 0.0% (i.e., biological sex, insurance type, geographical location, age group at diagnosis, cancer type, years since diagnosed) to 5.5% (i.e., race/ethnicity), or 7.9% of incomplete (i.e., IOC-CS question items #56, #65). The missing data were examined to see if patterns were present. Most missing data were due to incomplete items which likely happened on later items of the IOC-CS questionnaire. During the first visit to the DCSC survivorship clinic, study participants were asked to respond to *many* questions, and the IOC-CS questionnaire was just one part of a lengthy survey process, which might have resulted in many items left incomplete towards end of the questionnaire. The mean of NIOC and PIOC scores were calculated separately in order to consider the incompletes. Due to such few incidents of missing data with race/ethnicity, and no patterns were determined, those individuals were dropped from analyses.

Factor Analysis

Factor analysis was conducted to: 1) understand the structure of the set of variables, 2) assess or construct a questionnaire to measure an underlying variable, and 3) reduce a data set to a more manageable size while retaining as much of the original

information as possible (Field, 2009). Factor loadings were carefully reviewed for consistency as suggested by previous research utilizing the IOC-CS questionnaire (Zebrack & Landier, 2011), as well as for potential modification, based on exploratory factor analysis and theoretical construct. Before the factor analysis, wordings of the 45 items were reviewed, and if necessary, the coding structure was reversed to be congruent with the subscale's negative or positive focus.

Principle axis factoring was utilized at each iteration to examine 20 items of NIOC, and 25 items of PIOC. Varimax was used as the rotation method to assess factor loading patterns based on its ability to "maximize the dispersion of loadings within factors" (Field, 2009, p. 644). The number of factors to retain for each NIOC and PIOC subscales was determined based on theoretical groundings from previous literature (Zebrack & Landier, 2011), the results of the scree plot, and an eigenvalue of above 1. Furthermore, in consideration of the study sample size, items that loaded at 0.3 or above were included (Stevens, 2002) to form subscales.

Factor analysis for the NIOC scale retained all 20 items and 3 factors (i.e., life challenges, thinking/memory problems, and financial problems) showing strong loadings consistent with the findings of Zebrack and Landier (2011). The first factor explained 24.5% of the variance, the second factor explained 7.1% of the variance and the third factor explained 5.9% of the variance. Together the three factors explained 37.5% of the common variance (see

Table 1).

Table 1.

Negative Impact of Cancer Rotated Factor Loadings

	Factor		
	1	2	3
Worry about health	0.48		
Want to forget cancer	0.34		
I wonder why I got cancer	0.50		
I wonder why I survived and others do not	0.53		
I feel like something I did caused me to get cancer	0.42		
I am angry about having had cancer	0.58		
I feel like cancer controls my life	0.52		
I feel like time in my life is running out	0.66		
I am afraid to die	0.41		
I worry that I might die at a young age	0.71		
I feel like I missed out on important life experiences while I had cancer	0.41		
Having had cancer makes me feel unsure about my future	0.61		
It is easy for me to make decisions ^R		0.48	
It is easy for me to learn new things ^R		0.49	
I have a hard time thinking or concentrating		0.66	
I have a hard time remembering things from long ago		0.60	
I have trouble remembering things, even for just a few minutes		0.69	
I have financial problems related to having had cancer			0.79
My parents have financial problems related to my cancer and treatment			0.57
I have trouble getting assistance or services that I need, such as			0.69
insurance, disability or social security benefits, time off from work			
for doctors' visits, extra time to finish work or exams, specialized medical equipment, etc			
Eigenvalue	5.49	1.94	1.77
% of Total Variance	24.5%	7.08%	5.87%
	27.570	1.0070	5.077

Note: Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization ^R: Scores were revered to be consist with the content.

Factor loadings for the PIOC retained 22 of the original 25 items (i.e., item numbers 15, 24, and 27 were excluded). Although the factor structure retained 5 subscales, as in the original instrument (Zebrack & Landier, 2011), this analysis produced different factor loadings. This psychometric analysis indicated that the initial version of the IOC-CS instrument measures (Zebrack & Landier, 2011) distinct and relevant constructs for childhood and adolescent cancer survivors. All five factors together

explained 51% of the common variance (see

Table 2).

Table 2.

Positive Impact of Cancer Rotated Factor Loadings

			Facto	r	
	1	2	3	4	5
I lead a healthy life			0.80		
I eat a healthy diet			0.69		
I exercise			0.50		
I am healthy as others who have never had cancer			0.46		
I believe I'm an attractive person	0.63				
I like the way my body looks	0.66				
I have confidence in myself	0.66				
I feel in control of my life	0.49				
I am comfortable discussing my cancer with my mother		0.63			
I am comfortable discussing my cancer with my father		0.87			
My mother is comfortable discussing my cancer with me		0.59			
My father is comfortable discussing my cancer with me		0.77			
I feel a special bond with people with cancer					0.51
Good things have come out of having had cancer					0.65
I have learned about myself because of having had cancer					0.86
When I have a health problem, I know who to see for medical care				0.41	
I am confident that any doctor I see knows about the long- term effects of childhood cancer treatment				0.42	
I have all the information I need about my cancer, its treatment, and possible long-term effects				0.74	
When I need information about cancer I know where to find it				0.70	
I make friends easily	0.53				
I avoid social activities ^R	0.54				
I feel left out from my friends' lives or activities ^R	0.58	2.52	2.07	1.72	1 5 4
Eigenvalue	5.28	2.53	2.07	1.72	1.54
% of Total Variance	19.0%	8.30%	6.35%	4.79%	3.93%

Note: Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring. Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization. ^R: Scores were revered to be consist with the content.

Correlations between the three subscales of NIOC were significant with medium

(e.g., r = 0.28) to large (r = 0.47) effect (Cohen, 1988) (see Table 3.); the five subscales

of PIOC were also significant with small (r = 0.12) to strong (r = 0.62) effect (see Table 4). Psychometric properties of the eight subscales demonstrate robust internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha ranged between 0.70 to 0.83) and feature expected associations with standardized measures of health-related quality of life measurements (Zebrack et al., 2010; Zebrack & Landier, 2011).

Table 3.

Correlation and Internal Consistency of NIOC subscales

	Factor 2	Factor 3	Cronbach Alpha
Factor 1	r = 0.30 * * *	$r = 0.28^{***}$	0.83
Factor 2	-	$r = 0.47^{***}$	0.77
Factor 3	-	-	0.76
$N_{ata} * * * \cdot n < 0.001$			

Note. ***: *p* < 0.001

Table 4.

Correlation and Internal Consistency of PIOC subscales

	Factor 2	Factor 3	Factor 4	Factor 5	Cronbach Alpha	
Factor 1	r = 0.14 * *	r =	$r = 0.37^{***}$	r =0.13**	0.79	
		0.62***				
Factor 2	-	r = 0.12*	$r = 0.15^{***}$	r = 0.14 * *	0.82	
Factor 3	-	-	$r = 0.37^{***}$	ns	0.73	
Factor 4	-	-	-	ns	0.69	
Factor 5	-	-	-	-	0.72	

Note. *: *p* < 0.05; **: *p* < 0.01; ***: *p* < 0.001

Mean Difference Test

Using a series of independent samples *t*-test, mean scores of NIOC and PIOC were tested, separately, with demographic (biological sex, race/ethnicity, type of cancer, and age group at diagnosis) and environmental variables (geographical location and insurance type). Findings revealed significantly higher NIOC mean score with female (*vs.* male, t(495) = 3.12, p = 0.001); diagnosed during adolescent (*vs.* childhood, t(495) =

2.25, p = 0.001); and public health insurance (*vs.* private insurance, t(495) = 3.09, p = 0.001). There were no statistically significant mean differences found in NIOC scores for geographical location and race/ethnicity. Using one-way ANOVA, the mean differences among the three types of cancer (hematological, CNS/brain tumor, solid tumor/soft tissue tumors/other) on NIOC and PIOC were tested, separately, and found no significant mean differences.

Using a series of paired samples *t*-test, mean differences between NIOC and PIOC in each group were tested. Results indicated that PIOC mean scores were consistently significantly higher than NIOC mean scores across all groups: males (\bar{x} = 4.15, $SD = 0.46 vs. \bar{x} = 2.93$, SD = 0.59), females ($\bar{x} = 4.07$, $SD = 0.47 vs. \bar{x} = 3.11$, 0.71), survivors diagnosed during childhood ($\bar{x} = 4.11$, SD = 0.46 vs. $\bar{x} = 2.99$, SD =0.66), diagnosed during adolescence ($\bar{x} = 4.11$, SD = 0.49 vs. $\bar{x} = 3.15$, SD = 0.62), White survivors ($\bar{x} = 4.10$, SD = 0.48 vs. $\bar{x} = 3.02$, SD = 0.64), non-White survivors ($\bar{x} = 4.11$, $SD = 0.39 vs. \bar{x} = 3.08, SD = 0.69$, amongst survivors diagnosed with hematological cancers ($\bar{x} = 4.12$, SD = 0.48 vs. $\bar{x} = 3.02$, SD = 0.66), CNS/Brain tumor cancers ($\bar{x} =$ 4.02, $SD = 0.51 vs. \bar{x} = 3.15$, SD = 0.64), and solid tumor/soft tissue/other cancers ($\bar{x} =$ 4.13, $SD = 0.42 vs. \bar{x} = 2.99$, SD = 0.66), survivors residing in urban geographical locations ($\bar{x} = 4.12$, SD = 0.45 vs. $\bar{x} = 3.05$, SD = 0.64), rural locations ($\bar{x} = 4.09$, SD = 0.64) 0.49 vs. $\bar{x} = 2.98$, SD = 0.68), having private health insurance ($\bar{x} = 4.15$, SD = 0.45 vs. $\bar{x} =$ 2.96, SD = 0.61), and public insurance ($\bar{x} = 4.04$, SD = 0.48 vs. $\bar{x} = 3.15$, SD = 0.71) (see Table 5).

Table 5.

Statistical Mean Difference Test

	Independent <i>t</i> -test/ NIOC	One-way ANOVA PIOC	Dependent <i>t</i> -test NIOC vs. PIOC
Biological Sex	Nioc	Hoe	$t(239) = -20.96^{***}$
Male	t(468) = -2.99** $\bar{x}=2.94$ (SD= 0.6) vs.	$t(468) = 1.84^{**}$ $\bar{x}=4.16 (SD=0.46) vs.$	$\bar{x}=2.93 (SD=0.59) vs.$ $\bar{x}=4.15 (SD=0.46)$
Female	\bar{x} =3.12 (SD= 0.7)	\bar{x} =4.17 (SD = 0.47)	$t(242) = -14.62^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.11 (SD=0.71) vs.$ $\bar{x}=4.07 (SD=0.47)$
Age Group at Diagno	sis		
Childhood	$t(458) = 2.13^{*}$	t(468) = 0.01, ns. $\bar{x}=4.11 \ (SD=0.46) \ vs.$	$t(369) = -23.0^{***}$ $\bar{x}=2.99 (SD= 0.66) vs.$ $\bar{x}=4.11 (SD= 0.46)$
Childhood Adolescence	\bar{x} =2.99 (SD= 0.66) vs. \bar{x} =3.15 (SD= 0.62)	\bar{x} =4.11 (<i>SD</i> = 0.49)	$t(99) = -9.60^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.15 (SD=0.62) vs.$ $\bar{x}=4.11 (SD=0.49)$
Race/Ethnicity			
	t(442) =76, ns. $\bar{x}=3.02$ (SD= 0.64) vs.	t(195.22) =22, ns. $\bar{x}=4.10$ (SD= 0.49) vs.	$t(343) = -20.91^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.02 (SD= 0.64) vs.$ $\bar{x}=4.10 (SD= 0.48)$
White Non-White	$\bar{x}=3.02 (SD=0.04) VS.$ $\bar{x}=3.08 (SD=0.69)$	\bar{x} =4.10 (<i>SD</i> = 0.49) <i>VS</i> . \bar{x} =4.11 (<i>SD</i> = 0.39)	$t(99) = -11.57^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.08 (SD=0.69) vs$ $\bar{x}=4.11 (SD=0.39)$
Type of Cancer			× ,
Hematological	F(2,467)=1.13, ns. $\bar{x}=3.02(SD=0.66)$	F(2,467)=1.30, ns. $\bar{x}=4.12(SD=0.48)$	$t(282) = -19.05^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.02 (SD 0.66) vs.$ $\bar{x}=4.12 (SD=0.48)$
CNS/Brain Tumor	$\bar{x}=3.15(SD=0.64)$ vs.	$\bar{x}=4.01(SD=0.51)$	$t(51) = -6.50^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.15 (SD=0.64) vs$ $\bar{x}=4.02 (SD=0.51)$
Solid/Soft Tissue Tumor/Other	\bar{x} =2.99(SD= 0.66)	\bar{x} =4.13(SD= 0.42)	t(134) = -14.84 *** $\bar{x}=2.99 (SD=0.66) vs$ $\bar{x}=4.13 (SD=0.42)$
Geographical Locatio	n		
	t(468) = 0.92, ns.	t(468) = 0.68, ns.	$t(313) = -20.16^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.05 (SD=0.64) vs$ $\bar{x}=4.12 (SD=0.45)$
Urban Rural	\bar{x} =3.05(SD= 0.64) vs. \bar{x} =2.99 (SD= 0.68)	\bar{x} =4.12 (SD=0.45) vs. \bar{x} =4.09 (SD=0.49)	$t(155) = -14.34^{***}$ $\bar{x}=2.98 (SD=0.68) vs$ $\bar{x}=4.09 (SD=0.49)$
Insurance Type			
	$t(468) = -3.04^{***}$	t(468) = 2.38**	$t(319) = -23.4^{***}$ $\bar{x}=2.96 (SD=0.61) vs$ $\bar{x}=4.15 (SD=0.45)$
Private Public	\bar{x} =2.96 (SD= 0.61) vs. \bar{x} =3.15 (SD= 0.71)	\bar{x} =4.16 (SD=0.45) vs. \bar{x} =4.04 (SD=0.49)	$t(176) = -11.7^{***}$ $\bar{x}=3.15 (SD=0.71) vs$ $\bar{x}=4.04 (SD=0.48)$

 $\overline{\textit{Note: *: } p < 0.05; \, **: \, p < 0.01; \, ***: \, p < 0.001}$

Participant Characteristics

Of 470, the range of participant age was 14-55 with a mean age of 26.7 (SD = 7.3); 79% (n = 370) were childhood cancer survivors diagnosed between the ages of 0-14 years old, and 21% (n = 100) were adolescent cancer survivors diagnosed between the ages of 15-19 years old. About half of participants (51%, n = 240) were identified as male (vs. 49%, n = 230 female). There were 344 (73%) non-Hispanic White/Caucasian cancer survivors (vs. n = 100, 21% non-white). Hematological cancers accounted for 60% (n=283), CNS/brain tumors accounted for 11% (n=52), and solid tumors, soft tissue tumors and other cancers accounted for 29% (n=135). Years since diagnosis ranged from 6-50 years, with a median time of 17.0 years since diagnosis (see

Table 6).

Table 6.

Demographic Variables			
Biological Sex			
Male	n = 240	(51%)	
Female	<i>n</i> = 230	(49%)	
Age Group at Diagnosis			
Childhood	<i>n</i> = 370	(79%)	
Adolescence	n = 100	(21%)	
Race/Ethnicity			
White	<i>n</i> = 344	(73%)	
Non-White	<i>n</i> = 100	(21%)	
Type of Cancer			
Hematological	<i>n</i> = 283	(60%)	
CNS/Brain Tumor	<i>n</i> = 52	(11%)	
Solid Tumor/Soft Tissue Tumor/Other	<i>n</i> = 135	(29%)	
Environmental Variables			
Geographical Location			
Urban	<i>n</i> = 314	(67%)	
Rural	<i>n</i> = 156	(33%)	
Insurance Type			

Participant Characteristics' Description (n = 470, 100%)

Private	n = 304 (65%)
Public	n = 166 (35%)
Control Variable: Years since diagnosis (\bar{x}	= 18.3, SD = 7.6; range = 6-50 years)

Hierarchical OLS Analysis Findings

Using blockwise methods, three models utilizing hierarchical ordinary least squares (OLS) regression were developed and analyzed separately for each outcome variable (negative impact of cancer vs. positive impact of cancer). Controlling for *years since diagnosis*, the first model consisted of demographic variables, the second model consisted of environmental variables, and third model consisted of interaction effects to investigate whether a new set of study variables predicts positive and negative impact of cancer over and above demographic and environmental predictors.

Predicting NIOC

Results for Model NIOC-1 revealed that a set of demographic variables (biological sex, age group at diagnosis, race/ethnicity, type of cancer) statistically significantly describes NIOC, F(6, 437) = 2.95), p < 0.01, explaining 2.6% of the variance. Being female ($\beta = 0.13$, p < 0.01) was a risk factor for increased NIOC. Additionally, being diagnosed during adolescence was a statistically significant predicter for decreased NIOC ($\beta = -0.13$, p < 0.01) (see Table 7).

In Model NIOC-2, by introducing environmental factor variables (geographical location and type of insurance), the model description significantly added 1.9% of the variation to the previous model: F(8, 435) = 3.61, p < 0.001). Having public health insurance was a statistically significant risk factor with increased NIOC ($\beta = 0.15$, p < 0.001).

0.00). Being female ($\beta = 0.13$, p = 0.01) and diagnosed during adolescence ($\beta = -0.12$, p = 0.02) remained significant as in comparison to the previous model (see Table 7.).

In Model NIOC-3, interaction effects were introduced, adding 1.6% of the variance above the previous model: F(10, 433) = 3.88, p < 0.001). Two predictors: being female and diagnosed during adolescence were no longer significant, but their interaction term: female cancer survivors who were first diagnosed during adolescence was a significant risk factor to increase NIOC ($\beta = 0.15$, p = 0.02). Additionally, living in a rural geographical location and having public insurance was also found to be a risk factor with increased NIOC ($\beta = 0.13$, p = 0.05) (see Table 7).

Table 7.

	Model NIOC-1		Model N	Model NIOC-2		IOC-3
	Beta	Sig	Beta	Sig	Beta	Sig
(Constant)		0.00		0.00		0.00
Female (<i>ref</i> : male)	0.13	0.01	0.13	0.01	0.07	0.16
Adolescent (ref: childhood)	-0.13	0.01	-0.12	0.02	-0.03	0.68
Non-White (ref: White)	0.05	0.26	0.02	0.64	0.04	0.47
CNS/Brain tumors (<i>ref</i> : hematological)	0.09	0.07	0.07	0.13	0.07	0.14
Solid and soft tissue tumors/other (<i>ref</i> : hematological)	-0.01	0.87	-0.01	0.79	0.00	0.98
Years since diagnosis	0.03	0.56	0.03	0.55	0.03	0.51
Public insurance (ref: private)			0.15	0.00	0.08	0.17
Rural (<i>ref</i> : urban)			-0.05	0.33	-0.11	0.05
Female x Adolescent					0.15	0.02
Rural x Public insurance					0.13	0.05
Model Summary	F(6, 437) = 2.5	95** F((8, 435) = 3	.61*** F	(10, 433) =	3.88***
	$adj\mathbf{R}^2 =$	= 0.03	ad	$jR^2 = 0.05$	<i>adj</i> R	$^{2} = 0.06$
		ΔR^2	= 0.02**	ΔR^2	= 0.01**	

Predicting NIOC using Hierarchical OLS

Note. *: p < 0.05, **: p < 0.01, ***: p < 0.001

Predicting PIOC

Results from Model PIOC-1 revealed that a set of demographic variables (biological sex, age group at diagnosis, race/ethnicity, type of cancer) are statistically significant predicters of PIOC, F(6, 437) = 2.48, p < 0.05), explaining 2% of the variance. Years since diagnosis ($\beta = -0.16$, p = 0.00), was the only statistically significant predictor (see Table 8.).

Results of Model PIOC-2 revealed that with the addition of environmental variables (geographical location and type of insurance), the model description significantly added 1.2% of the variation to the previous model: F(8, 435) = 2.82, p < 0.01). Having public health insurance was a statistically significant risk factor in decreasing PIOC ($\beta = -0.12$, p < 0.01). Years since diagnosis ($\beta = -0.01$, p<.000) remained to be significant in comparison to the previous model (see Table 8).

In Model PIOC-3, by introducing the interaction effects, the model description significantly added 1.8% of the variance above the previous model: F(10, 433) = 3.31, p < 0.001). Having public insurance was no longer significant, but years since diagnosis ($\beta = -0.17$, p < 0.001) remained significant. Additionally, the interaction term: female cancer survivors who were first diagnosed during adolescence was a significant risk factor for decreased PIOC ($\beta = -0.21$, p < 0.00) (see Table 8).

Table 8.

	Model P	Model PIOC-1		Model PIOC-2		PIOC-3
	Beta	Sig	Beta	Sig	Beta	Sig
(Constant)		0.00		0.00		0.00
Female (<i>ref</i> : male)	-0.06	0.22	-0.07	0.16	0.01	0.84

Predicting PIOC using Hierarchical OLS

	аајк		$R^2 = 0.02^{**}$	0	$d = 0.02^{**}$	L = 0.03
Woder Summary		= 0.02		$djR^2 = 0.03$	· · · · ·	$R^2 = 0.05$
Model Summary	F(6, 437) = 2	18*	F(8, 435) =	2 82**	F(10 /33) -	- 3 31***
Rural x Public insurance					-0.04	0.56
Female x Adolescent					-0.21	0.00
Rural (<i>ref</i> : urban)			-0.03	0.49	-0.01	0.85
Public insurance (<i>ref</i> : private)			-0.12	0.01	-0.10	0.10
(<i>ref</i> : hematological) Years since diagnosis	-0.16	0.00	-0.16	0.00	-0.17	0.00
Solid and soft tissue tumors/other	0.01	0.81	0.02	0.76	0.00	0.95
CNS/Brain tumors (ref: hematological)	-0.06	0.22	-0.05	0.31	-0.05	0.31
Non-White (<i>ref</i> : White)	-0.01	0.79	0.01	0.88	0.00	1.00
Adolescent (<i>ref</i> : childhood)	0.05	0.32	0.05	0.29	-0.08	0.24

Chapter 5: Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine the influence of demographic and environmental factors *separately*, as well as the interaction effects in predicting NIOC and PIOC outcomes in childhood and adolescent cancer survivors. Notably, this study contributes insights to better understand the differential perceptions of female adolescent cancer survivors, as well as those residing in rural locations with public health insurance. This chapter presents a discussion of the four main study findings, study limitations and future research, and implications for social work practice and policy.

Positive Impacts of Cancer

Study participants consistently endorsed higher PIOC compared to NIOC across all demographic and environmental categories including biological sex, age at diagnosis, cancer type, insurance type, and geographical location. Findings of higher PIOC in this study corroborate with Tedeschi and Calhoun's post-traumatic growth theory (2004) explaining that individuals may attach positive meanings to traumatic events. Recent studies have further expanded an understanding of post-traumatic growth in childhood and adolescent cancer survivors by indicating that survivors may face a *dual reality*, in which they are able identify both the challenges and the positive experiences involved with cancer (Dattilo et al., 2021; Kim, 2017). Individuals' stories matter and may motivate survivors newly transitioning into post-treatment survivorship in navigating and overcoming the challenges involved in adjusting to life after cancer.

Reporting higher PIOC is also consistent with previous studies demonstrating that despite the biomedical, psychosocial, and survivorship care complexities, a subset of

childhood and adolescent cancer survivors report positive experiences of cancer (Dattilo et al., 2021; Husson & Zebrack, 2017; Taylor, 2000; Zebrack et al., 2012; Zebrack & Landier, 2011). In particular, recent studies (Weatherer et al., 2021; Miller et al., 2017) suggest that childhood and adolescent survivors who participate in survivorship programs are more likely to experience higher PIOC due to increased self-confidence, personal growth, social support, and health literacy.

On the other hand, research also indicates that while cancer survivorship programs are considered to be "critical to the well-being" of cancer survivors, the majority of childhood and adolescent survivors do not participate in cancer survivorship programs (Weatherer et al., 2021; Miller et al., 2017, p2.; Tonorezos et al., 2022). Since data in this study were derived from participants' initial visit to the Doernbecher Cancer Survivorship Clinic (DCSC), in which the program's effects would influence study participants, endorsement of higher PIOC may not be indicative of the benefits of attending a survivorship program. Study participants were either referred by their oncologist or primary care physicians or self-referred to the program and their participation was totally voluntary. Selection bias may have occurred with study participants, which may have resulted in consistently higher PIOC than NIOC. Participation in a survivorship program has been identified with individual attributes such as greater self-confidence in managing healthcare needs and a sense of empowerment for one's own health (Casillas et al., 2011; Foster et al., 2015; Miller et al., 2017; Rosenberg-Yunger et al., 2013). Additionally, environmental factors such as a successful healthcare

transition, having health insurance, and accessibility to a survivorship program have also been discussed (Casillas et al., 2011; Yunger et al., 2013).

Living in Rural Locations with Public Health Insurance

Not surprisingly, living in rural locations, and having public health insurance were identified as risk factors to increase NIOC. However, when their interaction term was entered, the main effect of living in rural locations was no longer significant, while having public health insurance remained significant. Previous studies suggest that a lack of accessibility to quality healthcare in rural areas is a critical contributor to poorer physical and psychosocial health outcomes, especially for cancer survivors (Levit et al., 2020; Miedema et al., 2013; Penumarthy et al., 2020).

Separately, financial barriers including high insurance copays among cancer survivors with public health insurance have been discussed intensively as one substantial contributor (e.g., Weatherer et al., 2021; Park et al., 2017; Penumarthy et al., 2020) to delayed access to cancer support services (Penumarthy et al., 2020). For example, studies show that there is a lack of public health insurance coverage for quality healthcare services including fertility treatments, sexual health services, and mental health services, as well as a lack of accessibility to survivorship programs that are often found in urban locations (Argenbright et al., 2016; Penumarthy et al., 2020). Research also demonstrates that cancer survivors with public health insurance often face barriers related to lack of transportation to medical appointments, lower health literacy, housing insecurity, and lack of social and financial support (Afulani et al., 2015; Penumarthy et al., 2020; Syed et al., 2013). Studies suggest that these barriers may be due to the effects of lower socioeconomic status among survivors with public health insurance (Penumarthy et al., 2020; Wolfson, 2021).

As the interaction effect finding indicates, cancer survivors living with both risk factors together may further exacerbate the NIOC indicated by increased life challenges, thinking/memory problems, and financial problems. While previous studies have discussed public health insurance type as a proxy for socioeconomic status (Penumarthy et al., 2020; Wolfson, 2021), on the contrary, results from this study may be indicative of support services not being equitably available and accessible for survivors living in rural locations with public insurance (Weatherer et al., 2021; Levit et al., 2020; Weaver et al., 2013).

Recent studies suggest a critical need in expanding cancer support services to improve access to survivorship support services to cancer survivors living in rural geographical locations (Morris et al., 2022). One proposed strategy is to increase the use of telehealth services in rural geographical locations to connect cancer survivors to more medical providers, social workers, and support services (Devine et al., 2018; Doorenbos et al., 2010; Morris et al., 2022). Telehealth and other digital health services have been found to be an effective method in improving access to cancer support services such as peer support, patient navigation, and survivorship cancer care resources and information (Brown et al., 2018; Doorenbos et al., 2010; Viola et al., 2020).

Being Female and Diagnosed with Cancer During Adolescence

While research on developmental age at diagnosis has primarily focused on the distinct biomedical and psychosocial differences between childhood and adolescent

survivors, studies on the influence of gender and developmental age at diagnosis are sparse. As hypothesized in this study, the interaction effect of being female and being diagnosed with cancer during adolescence is a risk factor with increased NIOC and lowered PIOC, compared to all other groups of survivors. This finding supports previous studies suggesting that higher NIOC is associated with greater physical and mental health distress in female cancer survivors (Husson & Zebrack, 2017; Zeltzer et al., 1997). Moreover, a recent study found that females diagnosed during adolescence experience greater worry and uncertainty related to 1) reproductive health , 2) future life goals, and 3) managing intimate and social relationships (Benedict et al., 2020b). These are consistent with findings from this study, especially for female (*vs.* male) survivors, and those who were diagnosed during adolescence (*vs.* childhood) reporting higher life challenges, which resulted in a significant interaction effect.

Contrary to overgeneralized perceptions on cancer survivorship, female survivors diagnosed with cancer during adolescence may have distinct experiences (Cathcart-Rake et al., 2021; Hammond, 2016) influenced by larger socioeconomic and cultural factors. A danger of overgeneralization of adolescent cancer survivors being described as *one* group due to their biomedical needs calls for greater attention (Bellizzi et al., 2012; Bleyer, 2007; Overholser et al., 2017). It is essential to distinguish gender and consider developmental life course in cancer survivor support programs.

CNS/Brain Tumor Survivors

Research on NIOC and PIOC has long indicated that long-term physical, psychological, and social challenges may be influenced by the type of cancer at diagnosis (e.g., Bellizzi et al., 2012; Zebrack et al., 2012). In particular, studies demonstrate that childhood and adolescent survivors diagnosed with brain cancer have poorer health and psychosocial wellbeing compared with survivors of other cancer types (Hocking et al., 2017; Oeffinger et al., 2004b; Zeltzer et al., 2009). However, in this study, being diagnosed with a CNS/brain tumor cancer type did not yield significant differences in NIOC and PIOC. Previous studies (Chao et al., 2020) have shown that the impact of cancer on patients vary because of cancer treatment drug side effects and duration of treatment. But these two factors were not considered in this study.

In addition, Deatrick and colleagues (2018) found that in comparison to other cancer types, brain tumor survivors reported experiencing greater family support and family-focused skills (i.e., ability to manage child's condition and special needs). Studies indicate that due to long-term cognitive, behavioral, and physically debilitating effects of treatment, childhood and adolescent brain tumor survivors are more likely to be dependent on caregivers longer than survivors of other cancer types even after treatment is complete (Beek et al., 2015; Hocking et al., 2017).

Furthermore, posttraumatic growth theory suggests that an individual's ability to apply positive meaning to traumatic life experiences may make physical pain and impairments less saliant (Barakat et al., 2006; Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004). Cancer survivors who experience greater intensity of treatment and severity of disease often endorse greater personal growth (Jansen et al., 2011; Lelorain et al., 2012).

Study Limitations and Future Research

Previous studies have found that patients who attend survivorship programs are more likely to have higher levels of health literacy, health care self-efficacy, and be more adherent to following treatment recommendations compared to survivors who don't attend survivorship programs (Kazak et al., 2010; Miller et al., 2000). While all study participants were attending a survivorship program, study data were collected during their first visit before they received any benefits from support services. In this regard, study findings could be interpreted as cancer survivors' overall experiences in the community. It is important to also note that all study participants were either referred by their oncologist, primary care physician, or self-referred. Self-selection bias may occur due to the voluntary nature of the participation.

Furthermore, study participants may not be nationally and population representative of adolescent and childhood cancer survivors. Racial cancer disparities have been a growing concern in the U.S. While cancer affects all population groups, socioeconomic and environmental disadvantages have caused certain groups of the population to bear a disproportionate burden of cancer compared with other groups (NIH, 2016). In this study, White cancer survivors (73% vs. 21% of non-White) were overrepresented. Certain racial/ethnic groups may not be well representative due to other culturally responsive survivorship programs that exist in the region. For example, the Asian Cancer Resource & Support Services (ACRSS) at the Asian Health and Service Center in Portland, Oregon is one example of a survivorship program providing culturally responsive and linguistically specific support services for cancer patients and their families in Asian communities, especially targeting Chinese, Vietnamese, and Korean communities. Additionally, with increases in cancer care disparities among immigrant and refugee communities in the U.S. (Kamaraju et al., 2022), it is important to learn more about the types of cancer support services that exist in the State of Oregon and nationally for refugee/immigrant survivors. It is also critical for future studies to deepen an understanding on the survivorship care support needs of refugee/immigrant cancer survivors. Furthermore, future studies should extend the study setting and the scope of data collection in order to be more inclusive of racial/ethnic minorities, as well as immigrant/refugee cancer survivors, both groups are often not only under-represented in cancer survivorship research but also cancer survivorship programs (Bhatia et al., 2016; Fang & Ragin, 2020).

While testing racial disparities in cancer was one of the interests of this study, surprisingly, no statistically significant race/ethnicity differences were observed. The race/ethnicity data in this study were derived from patient medical records. Upon conducting a retrospective chart review and seeking consultation from survivorship program staff, the researcher was not able to confirm whether race/ethnicity data in patient charts were self-reported by the patient, patient's family member, or by a third party not related to the patient. As race/ethnicity is considered an important determinant of health in the U.S and racial disparities in cancer have been identified and discussed with great concern (Bhatia, 2011; Bhatia et al., 2016), it is essential to move towards data collection that features the adequate collection of demographic and socioeconomic data (Ploeg & Perrin, 2004).

Previous research has revealed different experiences between male and female cancer survivors (Husson & Zebrack 2017; Zeltzer et al., 1997), therefore gender differences in the perceived impact of cancer was another study interest. However, patient medical records did not *adequately* collect gender information data of patients during the study timeframe period (i.e., from 2009 to 2019), thus biological sex was used as a proxy. In alignment with gender equity and social justice perspectives, OHSU hematology and oncology started collecting data on gender identity in 2019. It is important for future studies to draw attention to the cancer experiences of this population, especially considering that the lack of adequate gender identity data collection in electronic medical records, as well as the absence of gender-neutral language in medical questionnaires and surveys has led to a limited understanding of the specific needs and support services required for gender minorities (Pratt-Chapman et al., 2021; Wheldon et al., 2018).

While this study did not observe significant differences in NIOC among CNS/brain tumor cancer survivors as reported in previous research, it is important to mention that the CNS/brain tumor survivors participating in this study may not be nationally or population representative. Before CNS/brain tumor type participants attend DCSC, they participate in a pediatric neuro-oncology cancer support program at OHSU's Doernbecher Children's Hospital. This program is specialized in providing CNS/brain tumor survivors with biomedical and psychosocial support services tailored to their specific support needs. In this regard, receiving support services prior to study participants' first visit to DCSC may have served as a buffer for NIOC, thus influencing study findings. It is important for future studies to examine how receiving early intervention cancer support survivors after treatment may impact NIOC and PIOC.

This study observed important findings regarding higher NIOC among participants residing in rural geographical locations with public health insurance. However, due to utilization of secondary data and a cross-sectional design, this study did not have the capacity to identify participants' previous health insurance coverage, as well as how long study participants have had public health insurance coverage. Prior research demonstrates that participants eligible for public health insurance may perceive healthcare discrimination and stigma related to their health insurance type (Alcalá et al., 2020; Allen et al., 2014). Future studies should utilize longitudinal methods in examining the effects of health insurance type across the cancer care continuum (diagnosis, treatment, and post-treatment).

The IOC-CS instrument was developed to capture the unique and multidimensional experiences of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors, and this instrument was used in this study. However, during exploratory factor analysis it was revealed that factor loadings for the five PIOC subscales (body and health, talking with parents, personal growth, health literacy, socializing) indicated two distinct factorial structures from the initial version of this instrument (Zebrack & Landier, 2011). Followup studies using confirmatory factor analysis are needed to confirm these findings, as well as provide further information on the validity and variability of the IOC-CS constructs. In addition, previous studies demonstrate that the perceived impact of cancer is a critical factor to predict quality of health and life outcomes (e.g., Husson & Zebrack, 2017; Zebrack & Landier, 2011). However, this study did not connect NIOC and PIOC to such measures (e.g., health related quality of life, psychological distress). Further studies should carefully include outcome variables to build a causal relationship(s) predicted by the PIOC and NIOC.

Lastly, due to significant changes in the delivery of outpatient healthcare services because of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) (Punia et al., 2020), this study did not include data from the years 2020-2022 because the pandemic has introduced new life circumstances that may be significantly varied from data collected at DCSC from 2009-2019. For example, the pandemic has caused delays, postponements, and disruptions to cancer survivorship programs appointments within DCSC and nationally (Prasad et al., 2022; van den Oever et al., 2022). In addition, many survivorship programs have reduced support services in order to provide more resources to patients on active treatments (Prasad et al., 2022). Future research is needed to address and examine the unique exposures and experiences associated with this pandemic.

Implications for Social Work Practice and Social Work Policy

This study contributes important implications for social work practice in oncology healthcare settings and social work policy. Social workers play a critical role within the field of pediatric oncology and cancer survivorship programs by supporting children, adolescents, and young adults as they manage the diagnosis, treatment, and survivorship of cancer (e.g., Jones et al., 2018; Zebrack et al., 2018). Cancer survivorship programs and social workers should consider the implications of this study for developing and/or strengthening survivorship support services and interventions for childhood and adolescent cancer survivors.

This study found that residing in rural areas with public health insurance is a significant risk factor for increased NIOC. Social workers and cancer survivorship programs should focus special attention on understanding the needs of survivors living in rural geographical locations with public health insurance. For example, providing more accessibility and quality of health care services may reduce the risk of NIOC among survivors in rural areas with public insurance (Weatherer et al., 2021; Penumarthy et al., 2020). One strategy would be to increase utilization of telehealth and peer support services in rural geographical locations (Doorenbos et al., 2010; Morris et al., 2022). Additionally, social workers can work towards cultivating partnerships with rural agencies and clinics to improve access to support services in rural locations.

Another significant study finding was that female survivors diagnosed with cancer during adolescence reported not only reduced PIOC, but increased NIOC. Social workers working with this population must be mindful of the experiences of female survivors. The experiences of these individuals may intersect with socioeconomic, cultural, family, and trauma related factors (Cathcart-Rake et al., 2021). Therefore, deepening an understanding of the lived experiences of this population is essential for the implementation of gender sensitive, gender-affirming, and developmentally specific cancer survivorship support programs. In addition, study findings provide insights on the need for social workers and survivorship care programs to further assess the effects of medical indicators such as type of cancer along with non-medical indicators including socioeconomic factors and exposure to early childhood trauma that may influence NIOC and PIOC. One possibility may be to include questions about previous childhood trauma exposures to psychosocial questionnaires (Coughlin, 2021).

While it is essential for social workers to understand and address the psychosocial needs of childhood and adolescent cancer survivors, it is also important to target local and national policies that will improve funding, delivery, and access for more survivorship care programs, especially in rural geographical locations and for survivors with public health insurance (Miller et al., 2017; Penumarthy et al., 2020; Weatherer et al., 2021). Laws like the Childhood Cancer Survivorship, Treatment, Access and Research (STAR) Act (STAR Act, 2018) which was enacted in 2018 and is in the process of being refunded, are important next steps. This law funds an expansion in the collection of clinical and demographic information and supports increasing the delivery of quality cancer support services to both survivors and their families. These efforts may help to maximize the delivery of quality healthcare services to individuals living in rural geographical areas as well as support an expansion of public insurance to include coverage for more long-term cancer support services.

Conclusion

This study sought to deepen an understanding on the extent to which demographic and environmental factors, as well as the interaction effects predict the positive and negative impact of cancer in childhood and adolescent cancer survivors. Guided by Hammond's theory of "Distinctness," and Tedeschi and Calhoun's posttraumatic growth theory, study findings offer insights to better understand the differential perceptions of female adolescent cancer survivors, as well as those residing in rural locations with public health insurance. Findings are indicative of the complex ways in which developmental age at diagnosis, biological sex, geographical location, and health insurance type interact to predict NIOC and PIOC.

Implications from this study provide social workers working in oncology settings with insights on what areas of supportive care needs, services, and resources may need further strengthening, adapting, and/or developing in responding to the distinct needs of female survivors diagnosed during adolescence and survivors living in rural locations with public health insurance.

Findings from this study also highlight the need for the IOC-CS questionnaire to be accompanied by additional measures such as health-related quality of life and psychological distress to examine overall quality of life as outcome variables. Important next steps for future research studies should include such measures to build a causal relationship(s) using longitudinal study designs.

Additionally, it is important for policymakers to advocate for the development or enhancement of programs and resources that increase the delivery, accessibility, and quality of cancer support survivors, particularly for survivors residing in rural locations with public health insurance. Policy efforts should be targeted towards supporting an expansion of public health insurance to provide coverage beyond inpatient services and into long-term cancer survivorship.

Lastly, this study also provides further evidence on the need for survivorship cancer research to move towards frameworks of social determinants of health by examining the accumulated effects of medical indicators and non-medical indicators including socioeconomic factors and exposure to early childhood trauma that may influence NIOC and PIOC. Providing adequate and comprehensive management and support for cancer survivors is complex and requires contribution from a range of medical specialists and healthcare professionals. Findings from this study provide insights into the interdisciplinary (i.e., medical profession and social work) and interinstitutional (i.e., OHSU and Portland State University School of Social Work) collaboration that was able to strengthen the research design and help to better understand impacts of cancer among childhood and adolescent cancer survivors. Based on study findings, it is hoped that negative impacts of cancer are reduced, and cancer survivorship experiences are improved.

References

- Afulani, P., Herman, D., Coleman-Jensen, A., & Harrison, G. G. (2015). Food Insecurity and Health Outcomes Among Older Adults: The Role of Cost-Related Medication Underuse. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*, *34*(3), 319–342. https://doi.org/10.1080/21551197.2015.1054575
- Albritton, K., & Bleyer, W. A. (2003). The management of cancer in the older adolescent. *European Journal of Cancer (Oxford, England: 1990)*, 39(18), 2584– 2599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2003.09.013
- Alcalá, H. E., Ng, A. E., Gayen, S., & Ortega, A. N. (2020). Insurance Types, Usual Sources of Health Care, and Perceived Discrimination. *Journal of the American Board of Family Medicine: JABFM*, *33*(4), 580–591. https://doi.org/10.3122/jabfm.2020.04.190419
- Alderfer, M. A., Navsaria, N., & Kazak, A. E. (2009). Family Functioning and
 Posttraumatic Stress Disorder in Adolescent Survivors of Childhood Cancer.
 Journal of Family Psychology : JFP : Journal of the Division of Family
 Psychology of the American Psychological Association (Division 43), 23(5), 717–
 725. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0015996
- Allen, H., Wright, B. J., Harding, K., & Broffman, L. (2014). The Role of Stigma in Access to Health Care for the Poor. *The Milbank Quarterly*, 92(2), 289–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-0009.12059

American Society of Clinical Oncology. (2017). American Society of Clinical Oncology.

- Argenbright, K. E., Berry, E., Mazour, T., & Lawrence, S. L. (2016). Cancer survivorship care in the rural community: A mobile model. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 34(3_suppl), 38–38. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2016.34.3_suppl.38
- Arpawong, T. E., Oland, A., Milam, J. E., Ruccione, K., & Meeske, K. A. (2013). Posttraumatic growth among an ethnically diverse sample of adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(10), 2235–2244. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3286
- Association of Community Centers. (2019). ACCC / Association of Community Cancer Centers. /. https://www.accc-cancer.org
- Association of Oncology Social Workers. (2015). AOSW Scope and Standards of Practice. https://aosw.org/publications-media/scope-of-practice/
- Aziz, N. M. (2002). Cancer survivorship research: Challenge and opportunity. *The Journal of Nutrition*, *132*(11 Suppl), 3494S-3503S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/132.11.3494S
- Aziz, N. M. (2007). Cancer survivorship research: State of knowledge, challenges and opportunities. *Acta Oncologica*, 46(4), 417–432.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/02841860701367878
- Barakat, L. P., Alderfer, M. A., & Kazak, A. E. (2006). Posttraumatic growth in adolescent survivors of cancer and their mothers and fathers. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 31(4), 413–419. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsj058
- Barakat, L. P., Li, Y., Hobbie, W. L., Ogle, S. K., Hardie, T., Volpe, E. M., Szabo, M.M., Reilly, M., & Deatrick, J. A. (2015). Health-related quality of life of

adolescent and young adult survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Psycho-Oncology*, 24(7), 804–811. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3649

- Beek, L., Schappin, R., Gooskens, R., Huisman, J., & Jongmans, M. (2015). Surviving a brain tumor in childhood: Impact on family functioning in adolescence. *Psycho-Oncology*, 24(1), 89–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3599
- Bellizzi, K. M., Smith, A., Schmidt, S., Keegan, T. H. M., Zebrack, B., Lynch, C. F., Deapen, D., Shnorhavorian, M., Tompkins, B. J., & Simon, M. (2012). Positive and negative psychosocial impact of being diagnosed with cancer as an adolescent or young adult. *Cancer*, 118(20), 5155–5162. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.27512
- Benedict, C., Hahn, A. L., McCready, A., Kelvin, J. F., Diefenbach, M., & Ford, J. S. (2020a). Toward a theoretical understanding of young female cancer survivors' decision-making about family-building post-treatment. *Supportive Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer*, 28(10), 4857–4867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-020-05307-1
- Benedict, C., Hahn, A. L., McCready, A., Kelvin, J. F., Diefenbach, M., & Ford, J. S. (2020b). Toward a theoretical understanding of young female cancer survivors' decision-making about family-building post-treatment. *Supportive Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer*, 28(10), 4857–4867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-020-05307-1
- Bhakta, N., Liu, Q., Ness, K. K., Baassiri, M., Eissa, H., Yeo, F., Chemaitilly, W.,Ehrhardt, M. J., Bass, J., Bishop, M. W., Shelton, K., Lu, L., Huang, S., Li, Z.,Caron, E., Lanctot, J., Howell, C., Folse, T., Joshi, V., ... Robison, L. L. (2017).

The cumulative burden of surviving childhood cancer: An initial report from the St Jude Lifetime Cohort Study (SJLIFE). *The Lancet*, *390*(10112), 2569–2582. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31610-0

- Bhatia, S. (2011). Disparities in cancer outcomes: Lessons learned from children with cancer. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 56(6), 994–1002. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.23078
- Bhatia, S., Gibson, T. M., Ness, K. K., Liu, Q., Oeffinger, K. C., Krull, K. R., Nathan, P. C., Neglia, J. P., Leisenring, W., Yasui, Y., Robison, L. L., & Armstrong, G. T. (2016). Childhood Cancer Survivorship Research in Minority Populations: A Position Paper from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Cancer*, *122*(15), 2426–2439. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.30072
- Bhatia, S., & Meadows, A. T. (2006). Long-term follow-up of childhood cancer survivors: Future directions for clinical care and research. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 46(2), 143–148. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.20613
- Bleyer, A. (2007). Adolescent and young adult (AYA) oncology: The first A. *Pediatric Hematology and Oncology*, 24(5), 325–336.

https://doi.org/10.1080/08880010701316850

Brown, J., Athens, A., Tait, D. L., Crane, E. K., Higgins, R. V., Naumann, R. W., Gusic,
L. H., & Amacker-North, L. (2018). A Comprehensive Program Enabling
Effective Delivery of Regional Genetic Counseling. *International Journal of Gynecological Cancer: Official Journal of the International Gynecological*

Cancer Society, 28(5), 996–1002.

https://doi.org/10.1097/IGC.00000000001256

Bury, M. (1982). Chronic illness as biographical disruption. *Sociology of Health & Illness*, *4*(2), 167–182. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.ep11339939

Casillas, J., Syrjala, K. L., Ganz, P. A., Hammond, E., Marcus, A. C., Moss, K. M.,
Crespi, C. M., Lu, P., McCabe, M. S., Ford, J. S., Jacobs, L. A., Pucci, D.,
Palmer, S. C., Termuhlen, A. M., Diller, L., Campbell, M., Jones, B., &
Friedman, D. L. (2011). How confident are young adult cancer survivors in
managing their survivorship care? A report from the LIVESTRONGTM
Survivorship Center of Excellence Network. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship : Research and Practice*, *5*(4), 371–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-011-0199-1

- Casillas, J., Zebrack, B. J., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2006). Health-related quality of life for Latino survivors of childhood cancer. *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 24(3), 125–145. https://doi.org/10.1300/J077v24n03_06
- Cathcart-Rake, E. J., Ruddy, K. J., Bleyer, A., & Johnson, R. H. (2021). Breast Cancer in Adolescent and Young Adult Women Under the Age of 40 Years. *JCO Oncology Practice*, 17(6), 305–313. https://doi.org/10.1200/OP.20.00793
- Cetin, N. (2022). Examining the Role of Post-Treatment Family Support in Pediatric and Adolescent Cancer Survivors: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2021.0179

- Challinor, J., Miaskowski, C., Moore, I., Slaughter, R., & Franck, L. (2000). Review of research studies that evaluated the impact of treatment for childhood cancers on neurocognition and behavioral and social competence: Nursing implications. *Journal of the Society of Pediatric Nurses: JSPN*, 5(2), 57–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-6155.2000.tb00088.x
- Chao, C., Bhatia, S., Xu, L., Cannavale, K. L., Wong, F. L., Huang, P.-Y. S., Cooper, R., & Armenian, S. H. (2020). Chronic Comorbidities Among Survivors of Adolescent and Young Adult Cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, *38*(27), 3161–3174. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.20.00722
- Charmaz, K. (1995). The Body, Identity, and Self: *The Sociological Quarterly*, *36*(4), 657–680. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1533-8525.1995.tb00459.x
- Children's Oncology Group. (2018). Children's Oncology Group. http://survivorshipguidelines.org/
- Clinton-McHarg, T., Carey, M., Sanson-Fisher, R., Shakeshaft, A., & Rainbird, K.
 (2010). Measuring the psychosocial health of adolescent and young adult (AYA) cancer survivors: A critical review. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes*, 8(1), 25. https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-8-25
- Commission on Cancer. (2010). *CoC Standards and Resources*. American College of Surgeons. http://www.facs.org/quality-programs/cancer/coc/standards

- Cordova, M., & Andrykowski, M. (2003). Responses to cancer diagnosis and treatment: Posttraumatic stress and posttraumatic growth. Seminars in Clinical Neuropsychiatry.
- Coughlin, S. S. (2021). Social Determinants of Health and Cancer Survivorship. *Journal of Environment and Health Sciences*, 7(1), 11–15.
- Council, I. of M. and N. R. (2005). From Cancer Patient to Cancer Survivor: Lost in Transition. https://doi.org/10.17226/11468
- Cox, C. L., Zhu, L., Ojha, R. P., Steen, B. D., Ogg, S., Robison, L. L., & Hudson, M. M. (2017). Factors supporting cardiomyopathy screening among at-risk adult survivors of pediatric malignancies. *Supportive Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer*, 25(4), 1307–1316. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-016-3530-6
- Crawshaw, M. A., & Sloper, P. (2010). 'Swimming against the tide'—The influence of fertility matters on the transition to adulthood or survivorship following adolescent cancer. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, *19*(5), 610–620. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2354.2009.01118.x
- D'Agostino, N. M., Penney, A., & Zebrack, B. (2011). Providing developmentally appropriate psychosocial care to adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Cancer*, *117*(10 Suppl), 2329–2334. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.26043
- Dahl, A. A., Gudbergsson, S. B., Dørum, A., Fosså, S. D., Liavaag, A. H., & Sørebø, Ø.
 (2012). "The impact of cancer scale" version 1: Psychometric testing of the Norwegian translation in a heterogeneous sample of cancer survivors. *Quality of*

Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation, 21(8), 1459–1470. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-011-0053-y

Dattilo, T. M., Olshefski, R. S., Nahata, L., Hansen-Moore, J. A., Gerhardt, C. A., & Lehmann, V. (2021). Growing up after childhood cancer: Maturity and life satisfaction in young adulthood. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 29(11), 6661–6668. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-021-06260-3

Deatrick, J. A., Barakat, L. P., Knafl, G. J., Hobbie, W., Ogle, S., Ginsberg, J. P., Fisher, M. J., Hardie, T., Reilly, M., Broden, E., Toth, J., SanGiacomo, N., & Knafl, K. A. (2018). Patterns of family management for adolescent and young adult brain tumor survivors. *Journal of Family Psychology: JFP: Journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association (Division 43)*, *32*(3), 321–332. https://doi.org/10.1037/fam0000352

- Devine, K. A., Viola, A. S., Coups, E. J., & Wu, Y. P. (2018). Digital Health Interventions for Adolescent and Young Adult Cancer Survivors. JCO Clinical Cancer Informatics, 2, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1200/CCI.17.00138
- Dockerty, J. D., Skegg, D. C. G., & Williams, S. M. (2003). Economic effects of childhood cancer on families. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, *39*(4), 254–258. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1440-1754.2003.00138.x
- Doorenbos, A. Z., Eaton, L. H., Haozous, E., Towle, C., Revels, L., & Buchwald, D. (2010). Satisfaction with telehealth for cancer support groups in rural American

Indian and Alaska Native communities. *Clinical Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 14(6), 765–770. https://doi.org/10.1188/10.CJON.765-770

Erikson, E. H. (1968). Identity: Youth and crisis. Norton & Co.

- Evans, S. E., & Radford, M. (1995). Current lifestyle of young adults treated for cancer in childhood. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 72(5), 423–426. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.72.5.423
- Fang, C. Y., & Ragin, C. C. (2020). Addressing Disparities in Cancer Screening among US Immigrants: Progress and Opportunities. *Cancer Prevention Research* (*Philadelphia*, *Pa.*), *13*(3), 253–260. https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-6207.CAPR-19-0249
- Ferro, M. A., & Boyle, M. H. (2013). Self-concept among youth with a chronic illness: A meta-analytic review. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 32(8), 839–848. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0031861
- Field, A. (2009). Discovering Statistics Using SPSS, 3rd Edition (3rd edition). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Filippi, F., Peccatori, F., Manoukian, S., Clerici, C. A., Dallagiovanna, C., Meazza, C.,
 Podda, M., Somigliana, E., Spreafico, F., Massimino, M., & Terenziani, M.
 (2021). Fertility Counseling in Survivors of Cancer in Childhood and
 Adolescence: Time for a Reappraisal? *Cancers*, *13*(22), 5626.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13225626

- Ford, J. S., Tonorezos, E. S., Mertens, A. C., Hudson, M. M., Casillas, J., Foster, B. M., Moskowitz, C. S., Smith, S. M., Chou, J. F., Buchanan, G., Robison, L. L., & Oeffinger, K. C. (2020). Barriers and facilitators of risk-based health care for adult survivors of childhood cancer: A report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Cancer*, *126*(3), 619–627. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.32568
- Foster, C., Breckons, M., Cotterell, P., Barbosa, D., Calman, L., Corner, J., Fenlon, D., Foster, R., Grimmett, C., Richardson, A., & Smith, P. W. (2015). Cancer survivors' self-efficacy to self-manage in the year following primary treatment. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship: Research and Practice*, 9(1), 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-014-0384-0
- Foster, R. H., Stern, M., Russell, C. C., Shivy, V., Bitsko, M. J., Dillon, R., Klosky, J. L.,
 & Godder, K. (2011). Exploring Relationships Between Optimism, Perceived
 Health Vulnerability, and Parental Attachment Among Adolescent and Young
 Adult Survivors of Pediatric Cancer. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*, 1(4), 181–187. https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2011.0034
- Gardino, S., Rodriguez, S., & Campo-Engelstein, L. (2011). Infertility, cancer, and changing gender norms. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship : Research and Practice*, 5(2), 152–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-010-0166-2
- Gotay, C. C., Blaine, D., Haynes, S. N., Holup, J., & Pagano, I. S. (2002). Assessment of quality of life in a multicultural cancer patient population. *Psychological Assessment*, 14(4), 439–450. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.14.4.439

- Gutiérrez-Colina, A. M., Lee, J. L., VanDellen, M., Mertens, A., Marchak, J. G., & Guest
 Editors: Cynthia A. Gerhardt, Cynthia A. Berg, Deborah J. Wiebe and Grayson N.
 Holmbeck. (2017). Family Functioning and Depressive Symptoms in Adolescent
 and Young Adult Cancer Survivors and Their Families: A Dyadic Analytic
 Approach. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *42*(1), 19–27.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsw041
- Hammond, C. (2016). Against a Singular Message of Distinctness: Challenging
 Dominant Representations of Adolescents and Young Adults in Oncology. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*, 6(1), 45–49.
 https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2016.0018
- Handbook of Oncology Social Work: Psychosocial Care for People with Cancer. (2015). Oxford University Press.
- Harper, F. W. K., Albrecht, T. L., Trentacosta, C. J., Taub, J. W., Phipps, S., & Penner,
 L. A. (2019). Understanding differences in the long-term psychosocial adjustment
 of pediatric cancer patients and their parents: An individual differences resources
 model. *Translational Behavioral Medicine*, 9(3), 514–522.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/tbm/ibz025
- Hewitt, M. E., Greenfield, S., Stovall, E., & National Cancer Policy Board (U.S.) (Eds.).(2006). *From cancer patient to cancer survivor: Lost in transition*. National Academies Press.
- Hobbie, W. L., Ogle, S., Reilly, M., Barakat, L., Lucas, M. S., Ginsberg, J. P., Fisher, M.J., Volpe, E. M., & Deatrick, J. A. (2016). Adolescent and young adult survivors

of childhood brain tumors: Life after treatment in their own words. *Cancer Nursing*, *39*(2), 134–143. https://doi.org/10.1097/NCC.00000000000266

Hobbie, W. L., Stuber, M., Meeske, K., Wissler, K., Rourke, M. T., Ruccione, K.,
Hinkle, A., & Kazak, A. E. (2000). Symptoms of posttraumatic stress in young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 18(24), 4060–4066.
https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2000.18.24.4060

Hocking, M. C., Hobbie, W. L., Deatrick, J. A., Lucas, M. S., Szabo, M. M., Volpe, E.
M., & Barakat, L. P. (2011). Neurocognitive and family functioning and quality of life among young adult survivors of childhood brain tumors. *The Clinical Neuropsychologist*, 25(6), 942–962.

https://doi.org/10.1080/13854046.2011.580284

Hocking, M. C., Quast, L. F., Brodsky, C., & Deatrick, J. A. (2017). Caregiver perspectives on the social competence of pediatric brain tumor survivors.
Supportive Care in Cancer: Official Journal of the Multinational Association of Supportive Care in Cancer, 25(12), 3749–3757. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-017-3805-6

Hudson, M. M., Ness, K. K., Gurney, J. G., Mulrooney, D. A., Chemaitilly, W., Krull, K.
R., Green, D. M., Armstrong, G. T., Nottage, K. A., Jones, K. E., Sklar, C. A.,
Srivastava, D. K., & Robison, L. L. (2013). Clinical Ascertainment of Health
Outcomes Among Adults Treated for Childhood Cancer. *JAMA*, *309*(22), 2371.
https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.6296

Husson, O., & Zebrack, B. J. (2017). Perceived impact of cancer among adolescents and young adults: Relationship with health-related quality of life and distress. *Psycho-Oncology*, 26(9), 1307–1315. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4300

Hydeman, J. A., Uwazurike, O. C., Adeyemi, E. I., & Beaupin, L. K. (2019).
Survivorship needs of adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: A concept mapping analysis. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, *13*(1), 34–42.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-018-0725-5

- Jansen, L., Hoffmeister, M., Chang-Claude, J., Brenner, H., & Arndt, V. (2011). Benefit finding and post-traumatic growth in long-term colorectal cancer survivors: Prevalence, determinants, and associations with quality of life. *British Journal of Cancer*, 105(8), 1158–1165. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2011.335
- Jenson, J. (2019). Improving Behavioral Health in Young People: It Is Time for Social Work to Adopt Prevention. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 30, 104973151986286. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731519862860
- Jones, B., Currin-McCulloch, J., Pelletier, W., Sardi-Brown, V., Brown, P., & Wiener, L. (2018). Psychosocial standards of care for children with cancer and their families: A national survey of pediatric oncology social workers. *Social Work in Health Care*, *57*(4), 221–249. https://doi.org/10.1080/00981389.2018.1441212
- Jones, B. L., Parker-Raley, J., & Barczyk, A. (2011). Adolescent cancer survivors: Identity paradox and the need to belong. *Qualitative Health Research*, 21(8), 1033–1040. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732311404029

- Kamaraju, S., Merrill, J., Wu, J., Jeames, S., Conroy, M., Min, H., Powell, M., & Padela,
 A. (2022). Patient Navigation Based Care-delivery to Reduce Inequities in Cancer
 Care Among Immigrants and Refugees: A Commentary on the Successes and the
 Unmet Needs. *International Journal of Cancer Care and Delivery*.
 https://doi.org/10.53876/001c.33154
- Kazak, A. E., Derosa, B. W., Schwartz, L. A., Hobbie, W., Carlson, C., Ittenbach, R. F., Mao, J. J., & Ginsberg, J. P. (2010). Psychological outcomes and health beliefs in adolescent and young adult survivors of childhood cancer and controls. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 28(12), 2002–2007. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2009.25.9564
- Kim, Y. (2017). Exploration of life experiences of positive growth in long-term childhood cancer survivors. *European Journal of Oncology Nursing*, 30, 60–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejon.2017.08.001
- Kirchhoff, A. C., Spraker-Perlman, H. L., McFadden, M., Warner, E. L., Oeffinger, K.
 C., Wright, J., & Kinney, A. Y. (2014). Sociodemographic Disparities in Quality of Life for Survivors of Adolescent and Young Adult Cancers in the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*, *3*(2), 66–74. https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2013.0035
- Kline, R. B. (2011). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (3rd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Kline, R. M., Arora, N. K., Bradley, C. J., Brauer, E. R., Graves, D. L., Lunsford, N. B., McCabe, M. S., Nasso, S. F., Nekhlyudov, L., Rowland, J. H., Schear, R. M., &

Ganz, P. A. (2018). Long-Term Survivorship Care After Cancer Treatment— Summary of a 2017 National Cancer Policy Forum Workshop. *JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *110*(12), 1300–1310. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djy176

Klosky, J. L., Cash, D. K., Buscemi, J., Lensing, S., Garces-Webb, D. M., Zhao, W., Wiard, S., & Hudson, M. M. (2008). Factors influencing long-term follow-up clinic attendance among survivors of childhood cancer. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship: Research and Practice*, 2(4), 225–232.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-008-0063-0

- Kwak, M., Zebrack, B. J., Meeske, K. A., Embry, L., Aguilar, C., Block, R., Hayes-Lattin, B., Li, Y., Butler, M., & Cole, S. (2013). Prevalence and predictors of post-traumatic stress symptoms in adolescent and young adult cancer survivors: A 1-year follow-up study. *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(8), 1798–1806. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3217
- Lang, M. J., Giese-Davis, J., Patton, S. B., & Campbell, D. J. T. (2018a). Does age matter? Comparing post-treatment psychosocial outcomes in young adult and older adult cancer survivors with their cancer-free peers. *Psycho-Oncology*, 27(5), 1404–1411. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4490
- Lang, M. J., Giese-Davis, J., Patton, S. B., & Campbell, D. J. T. (2018b). Does age matter? Comparing post-treatment psychosocial outcomes in young adult and older adult cancer survivors with their cancer-free peers. *Psycho-Oncology*, 27(5), 1404–1411. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.4490

- Langeveld, N. E., Grootenhuis, M. A., Voûte, P. A., de Haan, R. J., & van den Bos, C. (2004). Quality of life, self-esteem and worries in young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Psycho-Oncology*, *13*(12), 867–881. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.800
- Langeveld, N., Stam, H., Grootenhuis, M., & Last, B. (2002). Quality of life in young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 10(8), 579–600. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-002-0388-6
- Lelorain, S., Tessier, P., Florin, A., & Bonnaud-Antignac, A. (2012). Posttraumatic growth in long term breast cancer survivors: Relation to coping, social support and cognitive processing. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *17*(5), 627–639. https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105311427475
- Levit, L. A., Byatt, L., Lyss, A. P., Paskett, E. D., Levit, K., Kirkwood, K., Schenkel, C., & Schilsky, R. L. (2020). Closing the Rural Cancer Care Gap: Three Institutional Approaches. *JCO Oncology Practice*, *16*(7), 422–430. https://doi.org/10.1200/OP.20.00174
- Li, C., Li, C., Forsythe, L., Lerro, C., & Soni, A. (2015). Mental health services utilization and expenditures associated with cancer survivorship in the United States. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 9(1), 50–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-014-0392-0
- Lowe, K., Escoffery, C., Mertens, A. C., & Berg, C. J. (2016). Distinct health behavior and psychosocial profiles of young adult survivors of childhood cancers: A mixed

methods study. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship : Research and Practice*, *10*(4), 619–632. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-015-0508-1

- Marshall, C. A., Larkey, L. K., Curran, M. A., Weihs, K. L., Badger, T. A., Armin, J., & García, F. (2011). Considerations of Culture and Social Class for Families Facing Cancer: The Need for a New Model for Health Promotion and Psychosocial Intervention. *Families, Systems & Health : The Journal of Collaborative Family Healthcare*, 29(2), 81–94. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0023975
- McDonnell, G. A., Pope, A. W., & Ford, J. S. (2020). Associations Among Perceived Parent and Peer Support, Self-Esteem, and Cancer-Related Worry in Adolescent and Young Adult Cancer Survivors. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*. https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2020.0111
- Meeske, K. A., Ruccione, K., Globe, D. R., & Stuber, M. L. (2001). Posttraumatic stress, quality of life, and psychological distress in young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 28(3), 481–489.
- Mertens, A., & Marchak, J. (2015). Mental health status of adolescent cancer survivors. Clinical Oncology in Adolescents and Young Adults, 5, 87–95. https://doi.org/10.2147/COAYA.S49174
- Miedema, B., Easley, J., & robinson, L. (2013). Comparing urban and rural young adult cancer survivors' experiences: A qualitative study. *Rural and Remote Health*. https://doi.org/10.22605/RRH2324
- Miller, I. W., Ryan, C. E., Keitner, G. I., Bishop, D. S., & Epstein, N. B. (2000). The McMaster Approach to Families: Theory, assessment, treatment and research.

Journal of Family Therapy, 22(2), 168–189. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6427.00145

- Miller, K. A., Wojcik, K. Y., Ramirez, C. N., Ritt-Olson, A., Freyer, D. R., Hamilton, A. S., & Milam, J. E. (2017). Supporting long-term follow-up of young adult survivors of childhood cancer: Correlates of healthcare self-efficacy. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 64(2), 358–363. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.26209
- Mitby, P. A., Robison, L. L., Whitton, J. A., Zevon, M. A., Gibbs, I. C., Tersak, J. M., Meadows, A. T., Stovall, M., Zeltzer, L. K., Mertens, A. C., & Childhood Cancer Survivor Study Steering Committee. (2003). Utilization of special education services and educational attainment among long-term survivors of childhood cancer: A report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Cancer*, 97(4), 1115–1126. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11117
- Molinaro, M. L., & Fletcher, P. C. (2018). Who is a survivor? Perceptions from individuals who experienced pediatric cancer and their primary support persons. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 26(4), 1113–1122. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-017-3931-1
- Morris, B. B., Rossi, B., & Fuemmeler, B. (2022). The role of digital health technology in rural cancer care delivery: A systematic review. *The Journal of Rural Health: Official Journal of the American Rural Health Association and the National Rural Health Care Association*, 38(3), 493–511. https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12619
- Muhammad, M., Wallerstein, N., Sussman, A. L., Avila, M., Belone, L., & Duran, B. (2015). Reflections on Researcher Identity and Power: The Impact of

Positionality on Community Based Participatory Research (CBPR) Processes and Outcomes. *Critical Sociology*, *41*(7–8), 1045–1063.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0896920513516025

- Mullan, F. (1985). Seasons of survival: Reflections of a physician with cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 313(4), 270–273. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM198507253130421
- Muzzatti, B., Flaiban, C., Romito, F., Cormio, C., & Annunziata, M. A. (2013). The Impact of Cancer Scale (IOC) in Italian long-term cancer survivors: Adaptation and psychometric evaluation. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, 21(12), 3355–3362. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-013-1909-1
- National Cancer Institute. (2019). National Cancer Institute, http://www.cancer.gov/research/areas/childhood

https://www.cancer.gov/research/areas/childhood/fda-approved-drugs-childhoodcancers?cid=eb_govdel.

- Ness, K. K., Morris, E. B., Nolan, V. G., Howell, C. R., Gilchrist, L. S., Stovall, M., Cox, C. L., Klosky, J. L., Gajjar, A., & Neglia, J. P. (2010). Physical performance limitations among adult survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Cancer*, 116(12), 3034–3044. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.25051
- NIH. (2016, August 4). Cancer Disparities—NCI (nciglobal,ncienterprise) [CgvArticle].
 NIH. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/disparities
- Nilsson, J., Jervaeus, A., Lampic, C., Eriksson, L. E., Widmark, C., Armuand, G. M., Malmros, J., Marshall Heyman, M., & Wettergren, L. (2014). 'Will I be able to

have a baby?' Results from online focus group discussions with childhood cancer survivors in Sweden. *Human Reproduction*, 29(12), 2704–2711. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/deu280

Nolan, V. G., Krull, K. R., Gurney, J. G., Leisenring, W., Robison, L. L., & Ness, K. K. (2014). Predictors of future health-related quality of life in survivors of adolescent cancer. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 61(10), 1891–1894. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.25037

- Odo, R., & Potter, C. (2009). Understanding the needs of young adult cancer survivors: A clinical perspective. Oncology (Williston Park, N.Y.), 23(11 Suppl Nurse Ed), 23– 27, 33.
- Oeffinger, K. C., & Hudson, M. M. (2004). Long-term complications following childhood and adolescent cancer: Foundations for providing risk-based health care for survivors. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 54(4), 208–236. https://doi.org/10.3322/canjclin.54.4.208
- Oeffinger, K. C., Mertens, A. C., Hudson, M. M., Gurney, J. G., Casillas, J., Chen, H., Whitton, J., Yeazel, M., Yasui, Y., & Robison, L. L. (2004a). Health care of young adult survivors of childhood cancer: A report from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2(1), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.26
- Oeffinger, K. C., Mertens, A. C., Hudson, M. M., Gurney, J. G., Casillas, J., Chen, H., Whitton, J., Yeazel, M., Yasui, Y., & Robison, L. L. (2004b). Health care of young adult survivors of childhood cancer: A report from the Childhood Cancer

Survivor Study. *Annals of Family Medicine*, 2(1), 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.26

Oeffinger, K. C., Mertens, A. C., Sklar, C. A., Kawashima, T., Hudson, M. M., Meadows, A. T., Friedman, D. L., Marina, N., Hobbie, W., Kadan-Lottick, N. S., Schwartz, C. L., Leisenring, W., Robison, L. L., & Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. (2006). Chronic health conditions in adult survivors of childhood cancer. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 355(15), 1572–1582. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsa060185

Oerlemans, S., Smith, S. K., Crespi, C. M., Zimmerman, S., van de Poll-Franse, L. V., & Ganz, P. A. (2013). Assessing the Impact of Cancer among Dutch non-Hodgkin lymphoma survivors compared with their American counterparts: A crossnational study. *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(6), 1258–1265. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3131

Oktay, J. S., & Zebrack, B. (2018, June 25). Oncology Social Work Research. Encyclopedia of Social Work. https://doi.org/10.1093/acrefore/9780199975839.013.1268

Olson, A. L., Boyle, W. E., Evans, M. W., & Zug, L. A. (1993). Overall function in rural childhood cancer survivors. The role of social competence and emotional health. *Clinical Pediatrics*, 32(6), 334–342.

https://doi.org/10.1177/000992289303200603

- Ostroff, J., & Steinglass, P. (1996). Psychosocial adaptation following treatment: A family systems perspective on childhood cancer survivorship. In *Cancer and the family* (pp. 129–147). John Wiley & Sons.
- Overholser, L., Kilbourn, K., & Liu, A. (2017). Survivorship Issues in Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology. *Medical Clinics*, 101(6), 1075–1084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcna.2017.06.002
- Park, E. R., Kirchhoff, A. C., Nipp, R. D., Donelan, K., Leisenring, W. M., Armstrong, G. T., & Kuhlthau, K. A. (2017). Assessing Health Insurance Coverage
 Characteristics and Impact on Health Care Cost, Worry, and Access: A Report
 From the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *177*(12), 1855–1858. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2017.5047
- Parry, C., & Chesler, M. A. (2005). Thematic Evidence of Psychosocial Thriving in Childhood Cancer Survivors. *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(8), 1055–1073. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305277860
- Parsons, H. M., Harlan, L. C., Lynch, C. F., Hamilton, A. S., Wu, X.-C., Kato, I., Schwartz, S. M., Smith, A. W., Keel, G., & Keegan, T. H. M. (2012). Impact of cancer on work and education among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, *30*(19), 2393–2400. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2011.39.6333

- Patterson, J. M., Holm, K. E., & Gurney, J. G. (2004). The impact of childhood cancer on the family: A qualitative analysis of strains, resources, and coping behaviors. *Psycho-Oncology*, *13*(6), 390–407. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.761
- Patterson, P., McDonald, F. E. J., Zebrack, B., & Medlow, S. (2015). Emerging issues among adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Seminars in Oncology Nursing*, 31(1), 53–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soncn.2014.11.006
- Pendley, J. S., Dahlquist, L. M., & Dreyer, Z. (1997). Body Image and Psychosocial Adjustment in Adolescent Cancer Survivors1. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 22(1), 29–43. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/22.1.29
- Pennant, S., C Lee, S., Holm, S., Triplett, K. N., Howe-Martin, L., Campbell, R., & Germann, J. (2019). The Role of Social Support in Adolescent/Young Adults Coping with Cancer Treatment. *Children (Basel, Switzerland)*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/children7010002
- Penumarthy, N. L., Goldsby, R. E., Shiboski, S. C., Wustrack, R., Murphy, P., &
 Winestone, L. E. (2020). Insurance impacts survival for children, adolescents, and
 young adults with bone and soft tissue sarcomas. *Cancer Medicine*, 9(3), 951–
 958. https://doi.org/10.1002/cam4.2739
- Perez, G. K., Salsman, J. M., Fladeboe, K., Kirchhoff, A. C., Park, E. R., & Rosenberg,
 A. R. (2020). Taboo Topics in Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology: Strategies
 for Managing Challenging but Important Conversations Central to Adolescent and
 Young Adult Cancer Survivorship. *American Society of Clinical Oncology*

Educational Book. American Society of Clinical Oncology. Annual Meeting, 40, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1200/EDBK_279787

- Phillips, F., & Jones, B. L. (2014). Understanding the lived experience of Latino adolescent and young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship: Research and Practice*, 8(1), 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-013-0310-x
- Phipps, S., Long, A. M., & Ogden, J. (2007). Benefit Finding Scale for Children:
 Preliminary findings from a childhood cancer population. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 32(10), 1264–1271. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsl052
- Pizzo, P. A., & Poplack, D. G. (2016). Principles and Practice of Pediatric Oncology, 7e. https://oncology.lwwhealthlibrary.com/book.aspx?bookid=1583
- Ploeg, M. V., & Perrin, E. (2004). The Role of Racial and Ethnic Data Collection in Eliminating Disparities in Health Care. In *Eliminating Health Disparities: Measurement and Data Needs*. National Academies Press (US).
 http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK215740/
- Prasad, M., Goswami, S., Deodhar, J., & Chinnaswamy, G. (2022). Impact of the COVID pandemic on survivors of childhood cancer and survivorship care: Lessons for the future. *Supportive Care in Cancer*, *30*(4), 3303–3311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-021-06788-4
- Pratt-Chapman, M. L., Alpert, A. B., & Castillo, D. A. (2021). Health outcomes of sexual and gender minorities after cancer: A systematic review. *Systematic Reviews*, *10*(1), 183. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-021-01707-4

Pritchard, S., Cuvelier, G., Harlos, M., & Barr, R. (2011). Palliative care in adolescents and young adults with cancer. *Cancer*, 117(10 Suppl), 2323–2328. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.26044

Punia, V., Nasr, G., Zagorski, V., Lawrence, G., Fesler, J., Nair, D., & Najm, I. (2020).
Evidence of a Rapid Shift in Outpatient Practice During the COVID-19 Pandemic
Using Telemedicine. *Telemedicine and E-Health*, 26(10), 1301–1303.
https://doi.org/10.1089/tmj.2020.0150

Quinn, G. P., Murphy, D., Knapp, C., Stearsman, D. K., Bradley-Klug, K. L., Sawczyn, K., & Clayman, M. L. (2011). Who decides? Decision making and Fertility Preservation in Teens with Cancer: A Review of the literature. *The Journal of Adolescent Health : Official Publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine*, 49(4), 337–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.01.005

Ratcliffe, M., Burd, C., Holder, K., & Fields, A. (n.d.). *Defining Rural at the U.S. Census Bureau*. 8.

Raymond-Speden, E., Tripp, G., Lawrence, B., & Holdaway, D. (2000). Intellectual, Neuropsychological, and Academic Functioning in Long-Term Survivors of Leukemia. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 25(2), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/25.2.59

Reed, J. (2018, June 5). Text - S.292 - 115th Congress (2017-2018): Childhood Cancer Survivorship, Treatment, Access, and Research Act of 2018 (2017/2018) [Legislation]. https://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/292/text

- Reeves, T. J., Mathis, T. J., Bauer, H. E., Hudson, M. M., Robison, L. L., Wang, Z., Baker, J. N., & Huang, I.-C. (2021). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Outcomes Among Long-Term Survivors of Childhood Cancer: A Scoping Review. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *9*, 741334.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.741334
- Rosenberg-Yunger, Z. R. S., Klassen, A. F., Amin, L., Granek, L., D'Agostino, N. M.,
 Boydell, K. M., Greenberg, M., Barr, R. D., & Nathan, P. C. (2013). Barriers and
 Facilitators of Transition from Pediatric to Adult Long-Term Follow-Up Care in
 Childhood Cancer Survivors. *Journal of Adolescent and Young Adult Oncology*,
 2(3), 104–111. https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2013.0003
- Roth, M., Berkman, A., Andersen, C. R., Cuglievan, B., Andrew Livingston, J.,
 Hildebrandt, M., & Bleyer, A. (2022). Improved Survival of Young Adults with
 Cancer Following the Passage of the Affordable Care Act. *The Oncologist*, 27(2),
 135–143. https://doi.org/10.1093/oncolo/oyab049
- Salz, T., Oeffinger, K. C., McCabe, M. S., Layne, T. M., & Bach, P. B. (2012). Survivorship care plans in research and practice. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 62(2), 101–117. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.20142
- Smith, A. B., King, M., Butow, P., Luckett, T., Grimison, P., Toner, G. C., Stockler, M., Hovey, E., Stubbs, J., Hruby, G., Gurney, H., Turner, S., Alam, M., Cox, K., & Olver, I. (2013). The prevalence and correlates of supportive care needs in testicular cancer survivors: A cross-sectional study. *Psycho-Oncology*, 22(11), 2557–2564. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3323

- Smith, A. W., Seibel, N. L., Lewis, D. R., Albritton, K. H., Blair, D. F., Blanke, C. D.,
 Bleyer, W. A., Freyer, D. R., Geiger, A. M., Hayes-Lattin, B., Tricoli, J. V.,
 Wagner, L. I., & Zebrack, B. J. (2016). Next steps for adolescent and young adult
 oncology workshop: An update on progress and recommendations for the future. *Cancer*, 122(7), 988–999. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.29870
- Sorell, G. T., & Montgomery, M. J. (2001). Feminist Perspectives on Erikson 's Theory: Their Relevance for Contemporary Identity Development Research. *Identity*, 1(2), 97–128. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532706XID0102_01
- Spencer, S. M., Lehman, J. M., Wynings, C., Arena, P., Carver, C. S., Antoni, M. H., Derhagopian, R. P., Ironson, G., & Love, N. (1999). Concerns about breast cancer and relations to psychosocial well-being in a multiethnic sample of early-stage patients. *Health Psychology: Official Journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association*, 18(2), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1037//0278-6133.18.2.159
- Stone, D. S., Ganz, P. A., Pavlish, C., & Robbins, W. A. (2017). Young adult cancer survivors and work: A systematic review. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 11(6), 765–781. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-017-0614-3

Stuber, M. L., Meeske, K. A., Krull, K. R., Leisenring, W., Stratton, K., Kazak, A. E., Huber, M., Zebrack, B., Uijtdehaage, S. H., Mertens, A. C., Robison, L. L., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2010). Prevalence and predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder in adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Pediatrics*, *125*(5), e1124-1134. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2009-2308

- Suh, E., Stratton, K. L., Leisenring, W. M., Nathan, P. C., Ford, J. S., Freyer, D. R., McNeer, J. L., Stock, W., Stovall, M., Krull, K. R., Sklar, C. A., Neglia, J. P., Armstrong, G. T., Oeffinger, K. C., Robison, L. L., & Henderson, T. O. (2020). Late mortality and chronic health conditions in long-term survivors of earlyadolescent and young adult cancers: A retrospective cohort analysis from the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *The Lancet Oncology*, *21*(3), 421–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30800-9
- Syed, S. T., Gerber, B. S., & Sharp, L. K. (2013). Traveling towards disease: Transportation barriers to health care access. *Journal of Community Health*, 38(5), 976–993. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-013-9681-1
- Taïeb, O., Moro, M. R., Baubet, T., revah-levy, A., & Flament, M. (2004). Posttraumatic stress symptoms after childhood cancer. *European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 12, 255–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-003-0352-0
- Taylor, E. J. (2000). Transformation of tragedy among women surviving breast cancer. Oncology Nursing Forum, 27(5), 781–788.
- Taylor, S. E., Lichtman, R. R., & Wood, J. V. (1984). Attributions, beliefs about control, and adjustment to breast cancer. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(3), 489–502. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.46.3.489
- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). TARGET ARTICLE: "Posttraumatic Growth: Conceptual Foundations and Empirical Evidence." *Psychological Inquiry*, 15(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli1501_01

- Tonorezos, E. S., Barnea, D., Cohn, R. J., Cypriano, M. S., Fresneau, B. C., Haupt, R., Hjorth, L., Ishida, Y., Kruseova, J., Kuehni, C. E., Kurkure, P. A., Langer, T., Nathan, P. C., Skeen, J. E., Skinner, R., Tacyildiz, N., van den Heuvel-Eibrink, M. M., Winther, J. F., Hudson, M. M., & Oeffinger, K. C. (2018). Models of Care for Survivors of Childhood Cancer From Across the Globe: Advancing Survivorship Care in the Next Decade. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *36*(21), 2223–2230. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2017.76.5180
- Tonorezos, E. S., Cohn, R. J., Glaser, A. W., Lewin, J., Poon, E., Wakefield, C. E., & Oeffinger, K. C. (2022). Long-term care for people treated for cancer during childhood and adolescence. *The Lancet*, 399(10334), 1561–1572. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00460-3
- Tonorezos, E. S., & Oeffinger, K. C. (2011). Research challenges in adolescent and young adult cancer survivor research. *Cancer*, 117(10 Suppl), 2295–2300. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.26058
- van den Oever, S. R., Pluijm, S. M. F., Skinner, R., Glaser, A., Mulder, R. L., Armenian, S., Bardi, E., Berger, C., Ehrhardt, M. J., Gilleland Marchak, J., Haeusler, G. M., Hartogh, J. den, Hjorth, L., Kepak, T., Kriviene, I., Langer, T., Maeda, M., Márquez-Vega, C., Michel, G., ... Kremer, L. C. M. (2022). Childhood cancer survivorship care during the COVID-19 pandemic: An international report of practice implications and provider concerns. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-021-01120-9

Viola, A., Panigrahi, G., & Devine, K. A. (2020). Digital interventions for adolescent and young adult cancer survivors. *Current Opinion in Supportive and Palliative Care*, 14(1), 51–59. https://doi.org/10.1097/SPC.000000000000480

Wakefield, C. E., McLoone, J., Butow, P., Lenthen, K., & Cohn, R. J. (2013). Support after the completion of cancer treatment: Perspectives of Australian adolescents and their families. *European Journal of Cancer Care*, 22(4), 530–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecc.12059

- Wakefield, C. E., McLoone, J., Goodenough, B., Lenthen, K., Cairns, D. R., & Cohn, R.
 J. (2010). The psychosocial impact of completing childhood cancer treatment: A systematic review of the literature. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *35*(3), 262–274. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsp056
- Warner, E. L., Montenegro, R. E., Stroup, A., Kinney, A. Y., & Kirchhoff, A. C. (2014). Health care concerns of rural childhood cancer survivors. *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved*, 25(2), 901–912.

https://doi.org/10.1353/hpu.2014.0095

- Weatherer, A. L., Krebsbach, J. K., Tevaarwerk, A. J., Kerch, S. C., & LoConte, N. K. (2021). The current status of survivorship care provision at the state level: A Wisconsin-based assessment. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-021-01117-4
- Weaver, K. E., Palmer, N., Lu, L., Case, L. D., & Geiger, A. M. (2013). Rural–urban differences in health behaviors and implications for health status among US

cancer survivors. *Cancer Causes & Control*, 24(8), 1481–1490. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10552-013-0225-x

- Weigel, G., Ranji, U., Long, M., & 2020. (2020, September 15). Coverage and Use of Fertility Services in the U.S. *KFF*. https://www.kff.org/womens-healthpolicy/issue-brief/coverage-and-use-of-fertility-services-in-the-u-s/
- Wheldon, C. W., Schabath, M. B., Hudson, J., Bowman Curci, M., Kanetsky, P. A.,
 Vadaparampil, S. T., Simmons, V. N., Sanchez, J. A., Sutton, S. K., & Quinn, G.
 P. (2018). Culturally Competent Care for Sexual and Gender Minority Patients at
 National Cancer Institute-Designated Comprehensive Cancer Centers. *LGBT Health*, 5(3), 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1089/lgbt.2017.0217
- Wilford, J., Buchbinder, D., Fortier, M. A., Osann, K., Shen, V., Torno, L., Sender, L. S., Parsons, S. K., & Wenzel, L. (2017). "She Was a Little Social Butterfly": A Qualitative Analysis of Parent Perception of Social Functioning in Adolescent and Young Adult Brain Tumor Survivors. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing: Official Journal of the Association of Pediatric Oncology Nurses*, *34*(4), 239–249. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043454216688660
- Wilkinson, R. G., Marmot, M., Europe, W. H. O. R. O. for, Health (Europe), W. C. for U., & Society, I. C. for H. and. (1998). Social determinants of health: The solid facts (EUR/ICP/CHVD 03 09 01). Copenhagen : WHO Regional Office for Europe. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/108082

Wolfson, J. A. (2021). Poverty and Survival in Childhood Cancer: A Framework to Move Toward Systemic Change. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, *113*(3), 227– 230. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/djaa108

Yabroff, K. R., Bradley, C., & Shih, Y.-C. T. (2020). Understanding Financial Hardship Among Cancer Survivors in the United States: Strategies for Prevention and Mitigation. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, 38(4), 292–301. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.19.01564

Zebrack, B., Donohue, J. E., Gurney, J. G., Chesler, M. A., Bhatia, S., & Landier, W. (2010). Psychometric evaluation of the Impact of Cancer (IOC-CS) scale for young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 19(2), 207–218. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-009-9576-x

- Zebrack, B., Ganz, P. A., Bernaards, C. A., Petersen, L., & Abraham, L. (2006).
 Assessing the impact of cancer: Development of a new instrument for long-term survivors. *Psycho-Oncology*, *15*(5), 407–421. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.963
- Zebrack, B., Gurney, J. G., Oeffinger, K., Whitton, J., Packer, R. J., Mertens, A., Turk, N., Castleberry, R., Dreyer, Z., Robison, L. L., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2004).
 Psychological outcomes in long-term survivors of childhood brain cancer: A report from the childhood cancer survivor study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 22(6), 999–1006. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2004.06.148

- Zebrack, B. J. (2000). Cancer Survivor Identity and Quality of Life. *Cancer Practice*, 8(5), 238–242. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-5394.2000.85004.x
- Zebrack, B. J., Block, R., Hayes-Lattin, B., Embry, L., Aguilar, C., Meeske, K. A., Li, Y., Butler, M., & Cole, S. (2013). Psychosocial service use and unmet need among recently diagnosed adolescent and young adult cancer patients. *Cancer*, 119(1), 201–214. https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.27713
- Zebrack, B. J., & Chesler, M. A. (2001). A psychometric analysis of the Quality of Life-Cancer Survivors (QOL-CS) in survivors of childhood cancer. *Quality of Life Research*, 10(4), 319–329. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012228823115
- Zebrack, B. J., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2003). Quality of life issues and cancer survivorship. *Current Problems in Cancer*, 27(4), 198–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0147-0272(03)00027-8
- Zebrack, B., Kayser, K., Oktay, J., Sundstrom, L., & Mayer Sachs, A. (2018). The Association of Oncology Social Work's Project to Assure Quality Cancer Care (APAQCC). *Journal of Psychosocial Oncology*, 36(1), 19–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/07347332.2017.1397832
- Zebrack, B., Kwak, M., Salsman, J., Cousino, M., Meeske, K., Aguilar, C., Embry, L.,
 Block, R., Hayes-Lattin, B., & Cole, S. (2015). The relationship between
 posttraumatic stress and posttraumatic growth among adolescent and young adult
 (AYA) cancer patients. *Psycho-Oncology*, 24(2), 162–168.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.3585

- Zebrack, B., & Landier, W. (2011). The perceived impact of cancer on quality of life for post-treatment survivors of childhood cancer. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 20(10), 1595–1608. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-011-9893-8
- Zebrack, B., Schapmire, T., Otis-Green, S., Nelson, K., Miller, N., Donna, D., & Grignon, M. (2022). Establishing core competencies, opportunities, roles and expertise for oncology social work. *Journal of Social Work*, 22(4), 1085–1104. https://doi.org/10.1177/14680173211051983
- Zebrack, B., Stuber, M. L., Meeske, K. A., Phipps, S., Krull, K. R., Liu, Q., Yasui, Y., Parry, C., Hamilton, R., Robison, L. L., & Zeltzer, L. K. (2012). Perceived positive impact of cancer among long-term survivors of childhood cancer: A report from the childhood cancer survivor study. *Psycho-Oncology*, *21*(6), 630– 639. https://doi.org/10.1002/pon.1959
- Zebrack Bradley. (2009). Developing a new instrument to assess the impact of cancer in young adult survivors of childhood cancer. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship: Research and Practice*, 3(3), 174–180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-009-0087-0
- Zeltzer, L. K., Chen, E., Weiss, R., Guo, M. D., Robison, L. L., Meadows, A. T., Mills, J. L., Nicholson, H. S., & Byrne, J. (1997). Comparison of psychologic outcome in adult survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia versus sibling controls: A cooperative Children's Cancer Group and National Institutes of Health study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American*

Society of Clinical Oncology, *15*(2), 547–556. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.1997.15.2.547

Zeltzer, L. K., Recklitis, C., Buchbinder, D., Zebrack, B., Casillas, J., Tsao, J. C. I., Lu,
Q., & Krull, K. (2009). Psychological Status in Childhood Cancer Survivors: A
Report From the Childhood Cancer Survivor Study. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*,
27(14), 2396–2404. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2008.21.1433

Appendix: Impact of Cancer-IOC-CS, 45 items

Negative Impact of Cancer

Life challenges

- 1. Worry about health
- 2. Want to forget cancer
- 3. Wonder why I got cancer
- 4. Wonder why I survived
- 5. Something I did caused cancer
- 6. Angry about cancer
- 7. Cancer controls my life
- 8. Time is running out
- 9. Afraid to die
- 10. Worry I will die at young age
- 11. Missed out on life
- 12. Unsure about future

Thinking/memory problems

- 13. Easy to make decisions^a
- 14. Easy to learn^a
- 15. Hard time thinking
- 16. Trouble w/long-term memory
- 17. Trouble w/short-term memory

Financial problems

- 18. Financial problems from cancer
- 19. Parents financial problems from cancer
- 20. Trouble getting assistance/services

Positive Impact of Cancer

Body and health

- 21. Lead healthy life
- 22. Eat healthy diet
- 23. Exercise
- 24. Healthy as those w/o cancer
- 25. Believe I'm attractive
- 26. Like my body
- 27. Self-confident
- 28. Feel in control

Talking with parents

- 29. Can talk with mom about cancer
- 30. Can talk with dad about cancer
- 31. Mom comfortable talking about cancer w/me
- 32. Dad comfortable talking about cancer w/me

Personal growth

- 33. Cancer part of self
- 34. More mature than those without cancer
- 35. Special bond with others with cancer
- 36. Good things came from cancer
- 37. Learned about self

Health literacy

- 38. Know who to see for medical problems
- 39. Feel doctor knows cancer effects
- 40. Easy to talk to doctor about cancer
- 41. Have all cancer info I need
- 42. Know where to find cancer info

Socializing

- 43. Make friends easily
- 44. Avoid social activities^a
- 45. Left out of friends' lives^a

^a Reverse scoring